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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Purpose/Scope of Research:

* To Study About Varigegs Valuation Methods to value stocks.

e To Apply Industry’s Most Relevant Valuation Method I.e. Discounted Cash Flow
Valuation Method to carry out Valuation of Amazon Inc.

¢ Emergence of use of machine & deep learning in Stock Price Predictions.

¢ Emergence of Robo-Advisors in Financial Investment Industry.

e Is COVID-19 a boon or bane on Amazon’s Stock Price.

The Research disses in detail about the Valuation Methods or, Metrics to value a stock.
Such as: Dividend Discount Model, Discounted Cash Flow Model & Excess Returns

Model.
The use of all models depends upon from industry to industry & from availability of information
to carry out the research.

At the End, Industries most Relevant Model i.e. Discounted Cash Flow Model is going to be
used to carry out Valuation of International Behemoth: ‘Amazon Inc.’

Technique used for Research:

e There are 2 Industry Standardized Techniques used in this Project Report, which are:
o Quantitative Analysis carried out via DCF Valuation to judge profitability of
the company
o Quantitative Analysis of Financial Statements to judge credibility of
Management.
» At the end, both the Analysis leads to a conclusion whether the Company will create
value for its shareholders hence, A ‘Buy/Sell/Hold’ rating will be issued.

Vi




INDEX OF CONTENT

Sep. Title Page no.
1. Chapter-1 Introduction 1
2 1.1 Industry Profile 1
3. 1.2 Organization Profile 2-3
ﬂB 1.3 Objective of the Study 4
5. Chapter-2 Literature Review 5-17
6. Chapter-3 Research Methodology 18
7. 3.1 Quantitative Analysis 18-37
8. 3.2 Qualitative Analysis 38-52

é Chapter-4 Results 53-54
10. Chapter-5 Findings & Recommendations 55
11. Chapter-6 Limitations of the Study 56
12. Chapter-7 Bibliography/References 57
13. Chapter-8 Annexure 58
14. Chapter-9 Plagiarism Report 59

Vil




INDEX OF FIGURES

S.no. Title Page no.
1 Figure 1.2.1 Information about executives 3
2. Figure 1.2.2 Information about Board of Directors 3
3. Figure 2.1 Application of various valuation metrics in Indian 8

Context
4. Figure 2.2 Diagram of Artificial Neural Network 9
54 Figure 2.3 Diagram of Recurrent Neural Network 10
6. Figure 2 4 Diagram of Support Vector Machines 10
7. Figure 2.5 Diagram of Support Vector Regression 11
8. Figure 2.6 Betterment Questionnaire asking about Investment 13
Goals
0. Figure 2.7 Dashboard of Betterment for an [nvestor 14
10. Figure 2.8 Returns by Amazon in last | Month 15
11. Figure 2.9 Tweet of VP of USA praising Amazon 15
12. Figure 2.10 News Article in Guardian Explaining Amazon’s 16
Bonanza
13. Figure 2.11 Analysts expectations regarding Amazon’s Stock 17
14. Figure 3.1 Segment Performance Growth at Amazon 18
15. Figure 3.2 Past Income Statement Performance at Amazon 19
16. Figure 3.3 Past Balance Sheet Performance at Amazon 20
17. Figure 3 4 Past Cash Flow Performance at Amazon 21
18. Figure 3.5 Past Free Cash Flows to Firm Performance at Amazon 22
19. Figure 3.6 Information about 4 Scenarios Used to Assess Future 23
Performance
20. Figure 3.7 Consensus Case 23
21. Figure 3.8 Bull Case 24
22. Figure 3.9 Bear Case 24
23. Figure 3.10 Other Case 24
24. Figure 3.11 Assumptions about forecasted Segment Performance 25
25. Figure 3.12 Assumptions about Income Statement Performance 26

viii




26. Figure 3.13 Assumptions about Balance Sheet Performance 27
27 Figure 3.14 ﬁrecasted Cash Flows Performance 29
19
28. Figure 3.15 2recasted Free Cash Flows to Firm Performance 30
33
29. Figure 3.16 Present Values of Forecasted Free Cash Flow to Firm 31
30. Figure 3.17 Calculation of Net Present Value via XNPV Function 31
31. Figure 3.18 Calculation of Internal Rate of Return via XIRR 32
Function
32. Figure 3.18 Calculation of terminal value 33
33. Figure 3.19 Calculation of EBITDA 33
34. Figure 3.20 Calculation of Growth Rate Value 34
35. Figure 3.21 Sensitivity of Stock Price 35
36. Figure 3.22 Comparable valuation Analysis 36-37
37. Figure 3.23 Snapshot of Companies latest Financial statements 38
38. Figure 3.24 Snapshot of Risk Disclosure by Amazon 39-41
39. Figure 3.25 Disclosure of Ownership 42
40. Figure 3.26 Disclosure of Management Compensation 43
41. Figure 3.27 Disclosure of Corporate Governance 44
42. Figure 3.28 Disclosure of Operations Segment Performance 45
43. Figure 3.29 Disclosure in Management Discussion & Analysis 46
44. Figure 3.30 Disclosures regarding related party discussion 48
45. Figure 3.31 Disclosures in Notes to Accounts 49-51
46. Figure 3.32 Disclosures of Acquisition Activity by Amazon 52
47. Figure 3.33 Disclosures of Commitments by Amazon 52
48. Figure 4.1 Dashboard Depicting Recommendation & Target Price 53




Chapter-1

INTRODUCTION

1.1 INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

About Stock Valuation Industry:

In Equity Markets, All over the world. Various Financial Analysts & Research Analysts work
upon ascertaining the Intrinsic value of each & Every frequently traded stock.

Various methods are deployed by various analysts to judge whether the stock is: over-valued
(Future market prices will decrease for the stock & hence may reap losses for the investor or
under-valued (Future market prices will increase for the stock & hence may reap huge profits for
the investor.

There are 2 kinds of specialized analysts in the equity valuation industg

1. Fundamental Analysts: They use various industry accepted models to ascertain
Intrinsic value of a stock. M@ lcommon being the Discounted cash flow (DCF
Model) which takes account the present value of future cash flows to the firm as well
as present value of terminal value of the firm after a definite period of time. Then,
Enterprise value can be ascertained. Then, sulfifact debt & add cash, we get equity
value of the firm. Then to ascertain Intrinsic per share value, we divide equity value
by Number of shares outstanding for the firm.

The main focus for Fundamental Analysts is to invest for long term. (3+ Years)

2. Technical Analysts: These types of analysts don’t go for finding intrinsic value of the
stock. For them, market price is the most important thing & these type of Analysts
uses a variety of tools at their disposal to predict where the stock’s price would go
next.

There are various cffggr opportunities in the Industry. Most of them being in Buy side firms such
as: Insurance firms, Sovereign Wealth funds, Mutual fund companies, Banks, Pension funds,
Hedge Funds etc.

&, there are ample number of opportunities in sell side firms as well such as: Big Investment
Banks of the world like: JP Morgan Chase, Morgan Stanley, Goldman Sachs etc.




1.2 COMPANY OVERVIEW

About AMAZON Inc.:
Vision:

“Amazons Business is to be earth's most client driven organization; to manufacture a spot where
individuals can come to discover and find anything, they should purchase on the web.”

Mission:

“Amazon try to be Earth's most client driven organization. We are guided by four standards:
client fixation as opposed to contender center, energy for development, pledge to operational
greatness, and long-haul thinking. In every one of our sections, we serve our essential client sets,
comprising of buyers, dealers, designers, undertakings, and substance makers.”

Iggscription of Business:

“We try to be Earth's most client driven organization. In every one of our sections, we serve our
essential client sets, comprising of purchasers, rnerchmts, designers, undertakings, and substance
makers. We serve shoppers through our on the web and physical stores and spotlight on
determination, cost, and comfort. We offer projects that empower venders to sell their items in
our stores and satisty arranges through us, and mjects that permit creators, performers, movie
producers, expertise and application engineers, and others to distribute and sell content. We serve
engineers and undertakings of all sizes through our AWS fragment, which offers an expansive
arrangement of worldwide register, stockpiling, database, and other assistance contributions. We
likewise production and sell electronic gadgets. Also, we offer types of assistance, for example,
promoting to merchants, sellers, distributers, and creators, through projects, for example,
supported advertisements, show, and video publicizing.”

Revenue Generating Activities:

“Retail sales — Amazon offers customer items through our on the web and physical stores.
Income is perceived when control of the merchandise is moved to the cgnt, which for the most
part happens upon our conveyance to an outsider bearer or, on account 6f an Amazon
conveyance, to the client.”

“Third-party seller services- Amazon offers projects that empower dealers to sell their items in
our stores, and satisfy arranges through us. We are not the merchant of record in these
exchanges. The commissions and any related satisfaction and transportation expenses we gain
from these courses of action are perceived when the administrations are renderedggvhich for the
most part endless supply of the related items to an outsider bearer or, on account of an Amazon
conveyance, to the client.”
“Subscription services - Amazon membership deals incorporate expenses related with Amazon
Prime enrollments and access to content including book recordings, computerized video,
advanced music, digital books, and other non-AWS membership administrations. Prime
enrollments furnish our clients with access to a developing set-up of advantages that speak to a
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solitary stand-prepared commitment. Memberships are paid for at the hour of or ahead of time of
conveying the administrations. Income from such courses of action is perceived over the
membership time frame.”

“AWS — Amazon AWS courses of action incorporate worldwide deals of process, stockpiling,
database, and different administrations. Income is dispensed to administrations utilizing
independent selling costs and is fundamentally perceived when the client utilizes these
administrations, in light of the amount of administrations rendered, for examplnregister or
capacity limit conveyed on-request. Certain administrations, including process and database, are
additionally offered as a fixed amount over a predefined term, fggr which income is perceived
ratably. Deals commissions we pay regarding gets that surpass one year are promoted and
amortized over the agreement term.”

“Other — Amazon’s Other income fundamentally incorporates deals of promoting
administrations, which are perceived as advertisements are conveyed dependent on the quantity
of snaps or impressions.”

Information about Executives:

Information Aboul Our Executive OfMicers

Name Age Fusition
Jeffrey P. Beaos 56 President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board

Jeffrey M. Blackbum 50 Senior Vice President, Business Development

Andrew R. Jassy 2 CEO Amazon Web Services

Brian T. Olsavsky 56 Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Shelley L. Reynolds 55 Vice F dent, dwide C ller, and Principal Accounting Officer
Jeffrey A. Wilke 53 CEO Worldwide Consumer

David A. Zapolsky 56 Senior Vice President, General Counscl, and Secrctary

Jdeffrey P. Bezos, Mr. Bezos has been Chairman of the Board of Amazon.com since founding it in 1994 and Chiefl Exccutive Officer since May 1996,
Mr. Bewos served as President of the Company from founding until June 1999 and again from October 2000 to the present.

Jeffrey M. Blackburn. Mr. Blackburn has served as Senior Vice President, Business Development, since April 2006

Andrew R. Jassy. Mr. Jassy has served as CEO Amazon Web Services since April 2016, and Senior Vice President, Amazon Web Services, from April
2006 until April 2016.

Brian T. Olsavsky. Mr. Olsavsky has served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since June 2015, Vice President, Finance for the Global
Consumer Business from December 2011 to June 2015, and numerous financial leadership roles across Amaron with global responsibility since April 2002,

Shelley L. Reynolds. Ms. Reynolds has served as Vice President, Worldwide Controller, and Principal Accounting Officer since April 2007

Jeffrey A. Wilke. Mr. Wilke has served as CEO Worldwide Consum, :e April 2016, Senior Vice President, Consumer Business, from February 2012
uitil April 2016, and w iee President, North America Retail, from v 2007 until February 2012

David A. ¥ has served as Senior Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretary since May 2014, Vice President, General Counsel,
and Sec ' y 2004, and as Vice President and Associate General Counsel for Litigation and Regulstory matters from April 2002
uilil Seplember 2012

Figure 1.2.1 Information about executives

Information about Board of Directors:

Board of Directors

Name Age Position

Jeffrey P, Bezos 56 President, Chief Executive Officer, and Chairman of the Board
Rosalind G. Brewer 57 Group President, Americas and Chief Operating Officer, Starbucks Corporation
Jamie 8. Gorelick 69 Partner, Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP

Daniel P, Huttenlocher 6l Dean, MIT Schwarzman College of Computing

Judith A. McGrath 67 Senior Advisor, Astronauts Wanted * No experience necessary
Indra K. Nooyi 04 Former Chicf Exccutive Officer, PepsiCo, Inc.

Jonathan J. Rubinstein 63 Former co-CEQ, Bridgewater Associates, LP

Thomas . Ryder 75 Retired, Former Chairman, Reader's Digest Association, Inc.
Patricia Q. Stonesifer 63 Former President and Chief Exccutive Officer, Martha's Table
Wendell P. Weeks 60 Chief Executive Officer, Coming Incorporated

Figure 1.2.2 Information about Board of Directors
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1.3 OBJECTIVE OF THE STUDY

Objective of Research:

e To Appraise Quantitative Analysis by applying Discounted Cash Flow Valuation
Model to Ascertain Intrinsic Value of Amazon’s Stock.

e To Explore Sensitivity Analysis in Excel to check dependence of Intrinsic value of
Amazon’s Stock on 2 Parameters i.e. Exit Multiple & Discount Rate.

e To Assess Qualitative Analysis of Amazon’s Management in order to ascertain its
strength, integrity, credibility and fairness.

e To Highlight importance of Qualitative Analysis of a Stock: “Why Qualitative
Analysis is as important as Quantitative Analysis.’

e To Accord a Buy/Sell/Hold Rating on Amazon’s Stock.




Chapter-2

LITERATURE REVIEW

% Primary Focus of Research:

Stock Valuation is often described as an Art as well as a Science, by various Academicians &
Analysts all over the world.

The Following research deals with various Methodologies through which stocks are be valued by
various Research Analysts & Industry Experts all over the world.

And, then One of the Most accepted & Industry Relevant methods i.e. Discounted Cash Flow
Method would be chosen to value the stock of, world’s most exciting Share: “Amazon Inc.”

Various Research Papers on Equity Valuation have been Studied & then, Most Industry Relevant
Method has been ascertained.

<+ Types of Stock Valuation Metrics/Models:

There are 3 Types of Valuation Models:

e 2 Stage Discounted Cash Flow Model

¢ Dividend Discount Model/Gordon Growth Model
¢ Excess Returns Model

% Secondary Focus which Research:

The following research also deals with following topics such as:

¢ Emergence of use of machine & deep learning in Stock Price Predictions.
¢ Emergence of Robo-Advisors in Financial Investment Industry.
e [s COVID-19 a boon or bane on Amazon’s Stock Price.

This chapter will deal with a literature review on Stock Valuation Metrics/Models. A Study of
Different Valuation for Stocks via different Research Models has been read & discussed further.




4 Research Papers Read to Understand Stock Valuation (Primary Focus):

2.1 A Synthesis of Equity Valuation Techniques and the Terminal Value
Calculation for the Dividend Discount Model (Stephan H. Penman, 1998):

The paper spreads out elective value valuation models that include estimating for limited periods
and shows how they are identified with one another. It contrasts profit limiting models, limited
income models, and "remaining pay" models dependent on accumulation bookkeeping.

It shows that a few models that are evidently unique yield a similar valuation. It gives the general
type of the terminal worth estimation in these models and shows how this computation serves to
address blunders in the model. It likewise shows that all models can be deciphered as giving a
specific determination of the terminal incentive for the profit markdown model.

A. Two-Stage discounted cash flow Model: Appropriate for non-monetary organizations that
don't really develop at a consistent rate after some time. They will in general be high-
development at first, and become stable following a few years.

Two counts are performed 2-phase DCF Model:

First Stage/High Growth: Market appraisals of next 10 years of turned free income are taken.
(The development rate is diminished every year, until, it arrives at since a long time ago run
stable development)

Second Stage/Stable Growth: Calculated utilizing Gordon-Growth formulae.

The entirety of Future Cash streams is taken and, at that point limited to acquire Present Value.
=The Discounted estimation of future incomes/Shares on issue
= Value/Share

B. Dividend-Discount Model/Gordon Growth Model: Since profits are a type of incomes
which are straightforwardly come back to investors, it very well may be utilized to decide how

much an offer worth will be worth to an investor who will receive the reward of these future
profit installments. The Gordon Growth model is utilized to limit an organization's profit
installments after some time, with the suspicion that profits will keep on developing at a specific
rate until the end of time.

Two Conditions for Dividend Discount Model:
1. Relevant on all organizations, which pays significant extent of income as profits.

2. Adequate Data isn't Available.




Calculation of Dividend-Discount Model:
P=D/r-g
Where, P= Intrinsic value
D= Expected dividend/share
r=Discount rate\Rate of Return

g= Growth rate

C. Excess-Returns Model: Abundance Returns strategy is more qualified to figure the inborn
estimation of budgetary organizations than the conventional limited incomes model.

Two conditions for abundance brings model back:
1. Material on Financial stocks: Insurance or, Banks.

2. Adequate Data is Available.
Calculation of Excess-returns Model:

Excess return= (Return on equity- Cost of equity) * (Book value of equity)
Terminal value = Excess return/ Cost of Equity-Expected growth rate

Company Valuation= Book value of equity + Present value of Terminal Value.

Value per Share= Company valuation/ Shares outstanding

(2.2) The Validity of Company Valuation Using Discounted Cash Flow
Methods (Florian Steiger, 2008):
The paper talked about Discounted cash flow (DCF) valuation model in lengths. &, Talks about

various Strengths of the model & Why the Model is considered most favorite in the whole
Analyst community but, also talks about weaknesses of the model at a stretch as well.

Weaknesses that arises from various assumptions that revolves around the model. Any changes
can reduce valuation of stocks being evaluated. &, at the last, scenario analysis was discussed to
describe dependency of the stock valuation on 2 metrics.

The same study has been having been adopted while practically implying DCF valuation
methods on stock valuation of Amazon & Scenario Analysis has been used to see implication of
2 factors (Discount Rate & Exit Multiple) on Stock Price.




> Applicability of Various Stock Valuation Models in Indian Context:

S.no. Company Name Industry Valuation Model (Used)
1|Adani Ports Services Two Stage FCF
2| Asian Paints Consumer Goods Two Stage FCF
3|Axis Bank Financial Services Excess Returns
4|Bajaj Auto Ltd. Automobile Two Stage FCF
5|Bajaj Finance Financial Services Excess Returns
6|Bajaj Finserv Financial Services Excess Returns
7|BPCL Energy Dividend Discount
8|Bharti Airtel Telecom Two Stage FCF
9|Bharti Infratel Telecom Two Stage FCF

10|Britannia Industries Consumer Goods Two Stage FCF
11|Cipla Ltd. Pharma Two Stage FCF
12 |Coal India Ltd. Metals Two Stage FCF
13|Dr. Reddy's Labs Itd. Pharma Two Stage FCF
14|Eicher Motors Automobile Two Stage FCF
15|GAIL (India) Ltd. Energy Two Stage FCF
16| Grasim Industries Ltd. |Cement & Cement Products |Two Stage FCF
17 |HCL Technologies 1T Two Stage FCF
18| HDFC Bank Financial Services Excess Returns
19|Hero Motocorp Ltd. Automaobile Two Stage FCF
20|Hindalco Ltd. Metals Two Stage FCF
21|HUL Consumer Goods Two Stage FCF
22 |HDFC Bank Financial Services Excess Returns
23|ICICI Bank Itd. Financial Services Excess Returns
24|1TC Itd. Consumer Goods Two Stage FCF
25|Indiabulls Housing Ltd |Financial Services Excess Returns
26|Indian Oil Corp. Ltd. Energy Dividend Discount
27|Indusind Bank Financial Services Excess Returns
28|Infosys ltd. 1T Two Stage FCF
29|ISW Steel Metals Two Stage FCF
30|Kotak Mahindra Bank |Financial Services Excess Returns
31|L&T Construction Two Stage FCF
32| ME&M Automobile Two Stage FCF
33| Maruti Suzuki Automobile Two Stage FCF
34|NTPC Ltd. Energy Two Stage FCF
35|ONGC Energy Two Stage FCF
36|Power Grid Corp. Energy Two Stage FCF
37|Reliance Industries Energy Two Stage FCF
38|State Bank of India Financial Services Excess Returns
39|Sun Pharma Pharma Two Stage FCF
40| TCS 1T Two Stage FCF
41| Tata Motors Automabile Two Stage FCF
42 |Tata Steel Metals Two Stage FCF
43| Tech Mahindra 1T Two Stage FCF
44| Titan Company Consumer Goods Two Stage FCF
A45|UPL LTD. Fertilisers & Pesticides Two Stage FCF
46 |Ultratech Cement Cement & Cement Products [Two Stage FCF
47|Vedanta Ltd. Metals Two Stage FCF
48| Wipro 1T Two Stage FCF
49|Yes Bank Financial Services Excess Returns
50|7ee Entertainment Media & Entertainment Excess Returns

Figure 2.1 Application of various valuation metrics in Indian Context




4% Research Papers Read to Understand Emergence of use of Machine/Deep

Learning on Stock Price Prediction (Secondary Focus):

(2.3) Automated Stock Price Prediction Using Machine Learning (Moukalled,

El-Hajj & Jaber, 2019):

The paper talked about stock prices are dependent on the news rmted to the stock. The news
about the stock is a very important metric. Good news can have a positive impact on the stock &,
bad news can have a negative impact on the stock. The research paper applied various machine
learning & deep learning tools on 4 very big stocks of NYSE & model was trained using

historical news of last 10 years.

The machine learning algorithms were used & deep learning models were trained via using
relevant news for all the relevant stocks. Various runs were implemented, Recurrent Neural

Network (RNN) was judged to be most accurate for the Apple Stock.

The Following Models were described by the authors to perform the research i.e. to predict the

prices of stocks:

Deep Learning Tools:

1. Artificial Neural Network (FFNN): Also known as Feed Forward Neural Network.

Artificial neural networks can be used for Tabular, Image & Text Data.

Input Layer Hiddaen Layer Output Layer

Variable - #1 <) <’__ \/
—— PN
P @ -

e @ -

An example of a Feed-forward Neural Network with one hidden layer { with 3 neurons )

Figure 2.2 Diagram of Artificial Neural Network




2. Recurrent Neural Network: RNN is utilized for Recurrent connection on the Hidden State.

The looping constraint helps in processing sequential information which is captured in input

data. It can be useful to process: Time series data, Audio data & Text data.
Recurrent network

output layer

input layer

hidden layers

Figure 2.3 Diagram of Recurrent Neural Network

Machine Learning Tools:

1. Support Vector Machines: SVM are supervised trained learning models with algorithms
that analyses regression analysis. SVM are also known as SV Networks.

A
[ ]
® 9
]
® @
[ ]
[
A
| |
Class 1 Class 2

v

Figure 2.4 Diagram of Support Vector Machines

10




2. Support Vector Regression: SVR talks about how much fluctuations are acceptable in
the model. SVR is equivalent to SVM in classification.

yi=(wxj))+b+e¢ l

/\S g-deviation

Figure 2.5 Diagram of Support Vector Regression
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% Research Papers Read to Understand Emergence of use of Machine/Deep
Learning on Stock Price Prediction (Secondary Focus):

(2.4) The Emergence of Robo-Advisor (Fisch, LLaboure & Turner, 2018):

The paper talks on stretch about impact of Robo-Analysts in financial services & financial
technology industry. The Robo-analysts have transformed the industry completely but, it all
comes at a cost as there have been a certain obstacles & shortcomings when it comes to robo-
analysts.

Robo-Advisors/Analysts are causing a disruption to the industry as people are less appreciative
of technology over data & privacy concerns. Research paper also talks about robo-analysts
operate. Robo-advisors ask people to fill a questionnaire asking people about their objective,
goals, concerns & strategies and then plans its strategies accordingly.

What do Robot Advisers do?

Robo-counsels, or robos, are online administrations that utilization calculations to naturally
perform numerous speculation undertakings done by a human budgetary guide. At first offered
by new companies, robos are currently part of the set-up of administrations offered by major
money related establishments, for example, Vanguard, Schwab and Fidelity. Since they are more
affordable than a human counselor, they democratize access to money related exhortation. Robos
can take on clients with little reserve funds since including one more individual wouldn't cost
significantly more.

Joining begins with buyers rounding out definite polls online about their monetary objectives,
hazard resilience and venture time spans. Robos take the data and use PC calculations to concoct
a benefit distribution that meets the client's requirements. When the portfolio is made, robos
likewise oversee it, doing things like rebalancing the portfolio, executing exchanges, performing
charge misfortune gathering and different activities.

Robo Fees Associated., Returns Generated & Assets under Management:

Robo charges can go from zero — if the financial specialist has under $10,000 to contribute —
to as high as 0.89% of advantages under $1 million at times. 0.25% to 0.30% of benefits is
progressively average, he included. (The charge is on the expense of the speculation itself.)

Concerning execution, it's a diverse assortment with some robos showing improvement over
others.

Today, robos are a quickly developing pattern yet they despite everything order a little portion of
the market. In 2019, robos oversaw $980 billion in U.S. resources out of $81 trillion in resources
under administration all around.

Robos are controlled: They need to enlist as monetary counselors, and as agents’ sellers if
necessary . They likewise have a guardian obligation to look for a customer's wellbeing.

12




# The Best & Oldest Robo Advisors of All-time:

# Betterment

INVESTING MADE BETTER ¢ considered as oldest robo-analyst of all time & has $14.5
billion in AUM, making it the biggest robo-analyst in the market. Betterment charges only
0.25% to 0.40%, depending upon asset size for management. Betterment is highly efficient in
asset management.

At the point when you pursue Betterment, you'll complete a short overview about your venture
objectives and hazard resistance, which is then transformed into a programmed contributing
arrangement. In addition, Betterment clients gain admittance to burden misfortune gathering to
press out much greater gains on your portfolio.

Betterment Questionnaire asking about Investment Goals:

How would you like to get started?

R Save cash and earn interest y
Girow your cash savings for genaral use of for upcoming expantes.

6 Invest for a long-term goal )
Build wealth or plan for your next big purchase.

‘|\ Invest for retirement y

Set up traditional, Roth, or SEP IRAs to save for the golden years.

Figure 2.6 Betterment Questionnaire asking about Investment Goals
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Dashboard of Betterment for an Investor:

# Betterment

Summary Transfer Portfolio Advice Performance Activity
Retirement Fund - $436.434.98 $700.000
YOUR CURRENT PORTIOLK "

* US Total Stock Market: VTI

VT Vanguard Total Stock Maruet ETF

US Large-Cap Value: IVE

US Mid-Cap Value: IWS
US Srmall-Cap Value: IWN
Developed Markets: VEA

&% stocks

Emerging Markets: VWO

Justtarget on» Municipal Bonds: MUB

Figure 2.7 Dashboard of Betterment for an Investor
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4 Articles Read to Understand Impact of COVID-19 on Amazon’s Stock Price
(Secondary Focus):

Background:

Brilliant Performance delivered by Amazon in Last 1 Month Amidst Coronavirus Pandemic
Outbreak.

Amazon.com, Inc
Nr"mci:r\: ) AMZN
2 375 00 USD -33.19 (1.38%) 4+

MT-4 - Di
Ty I||-. (i}

1 day 5 days 1 month & months YTD 1 year 5 years Max

1,830.00 USD Wed, 18 Mar

Figure 2.8 Returns by Amazon in last | Month

2.5) Amazon reaps $11.000-a-second coronavirus lockdown bonanza (The
Guardian, 15th April 2020):

Reasons:

1. Positive Public Sentiment:

‘Mike Pence’ Vice-President of United States America wrote this tweet thanking Amazon for
creating Jobs amidst Mass firings by other companies. This has created positive public
sentiment.

. Mike Fence & w

In addion to the 100,000 workers already hired, @Amazon is
a—::an;; another 75 000 & ncreasng hourly pay Th ank you

w for working every day to meet the needs of the
Ar‘-\enf_an peopie as we face this pandemic logether

AMmazon 1o hire 78,000 More workers a5 demand rises dus 19 ...
Amazon 5 hanng AcAMonal Workers afer 1 filied mone than 100 000
posfions N the last month

Figure 2.9 Tweet of VP of USA praising Amazon
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2. Lockdown in USA creating driving more & more demand for Amazon Prime, Amazon Online
Sales & Amazon Web Services:

Amazon reaps $11,000-a-second
coronavirus lockdown bonanza

Shares reach record high, pushing fortune of CEO and founder Jeff
Bezos to $138bn

Coronavirus - latest updates
See all our coronavirus coverage

Figure 2.10 News Article in Guardian Explaining Amazon’s Bonanza
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(2.6) Analyst Reports of Amazon’s Forecast for FY 2020 (Yahoo Finance,

2020):

3. Highly Optimistic Revenues, EPS & Share Price Projections by Top Brokerages:

vehoo!

Earnings Estimate Current Qur. (Mar 2020 Neat Qur. (Jun 2020) rrent Year (2020) Next Year (2021
No. of Analysts 43 43 49 a7
Avg, Estimate 639 607 28.28 39.92
Low Estimate 4.68 32 19.58 24.61
High Estimate 788 9.01 3594 54.66
Year Ago EPS 1.09 5.22 23.01 28.28
Revenue Estimate Current Qur. (Mar rrent Year (2020 Next 1
No. of Analysts 41 41 46 44
Avg, Estimate 72.788 76338 334998 39258
Low Estimate 70.288 69.728 32388 371968
High Estimate 75.78 828 353.198 407.78
Year Ago Sales 59.78 62488 280528 334998
Sales Growth (yearfest) 21.90% 22.20% 19.40% 17.20%
Recommendation Trends > Analyst Price Targets (45) >
Average 2,433.67
L1 51 . 2} .
50 47 15 & -
n 46 Low 1,850.00 High 2,788.00
1 Current 2,375.00
40 v 12 B Strong Buy
B Buy Upgrades & Downgrades >
30
20 28 Maintains Baird: to Outperform 4/15/2020
e 30
B Sel
] N
e Maintains Deutsche Bank: to Buy 3/26/2020
—
Apr Mar Feb Jan

Maintains Wedbush: to Qutperform 3/17/2020

Recommendation Rating >

Maintains Aegis Capital: to Buy 2/13/2020
Maintains Citigroup: to Buy 2/5/2020
1 2 3 4 5
Strong Buy Hold  Under- Sell
Buy perform Maintains Wells Fargo: to Overweight 1/31/2020

Figure 2.11 Analysts expectations regarding Amazon’s Stock
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Chapter-3
RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Quantitative Aspects:

Past & Current Performance: -

(I) Individual Segment Performance:

Consensus hd

Historical Analysis

(in millions, except per share data 2016A 2017TA

Income Statement

Segmented Revenue

Online Stores 76,863 91,431 108,354 122,987 141,247
Physical Stores 5,798 17,224 17,192
Retail Third-Party Seller Services 16,086 22,993 31,881 42,745 53,762
Retail Subscription Services 4,467 6,394 9721 14,168 19,210
AWS 7,880 12,219 17,459 25,655 35,026
Other 1,710 2,950 4,653 10,108 14,085
Total Net Sales 107,008 135,987 177,866 232,887 280,522

Historical Analysis
(i mi »er share dats 2016A 2017TA

Segmented Revenue Growth

Online Stores 19.0% 18.5% 13.5% 14 8%
Physical Stores na na 197 1% 0.2%
Retail Third-Party Seller Services 42 9% B.7% 1%~ 258%
Retail Subscription Services 431% 52.0% 45.7% 356%
AWS 55.1% 42.0% 46.9% 36.5%
Other 725% 57.7% 117.2% 39.3%
Total Net Sales 27.1% 30.8% 30.9% 20.5%

Figure 3.1 Segment Performance Growth at Amazon

Analyst Commentary:
The Revenue Growth from:
e Online stores have been consistently at around 16-17% over the years.
e Physical Stores has been Quite Inconsistent, maybe can attributed to recent opening of
physical stores in last 3 years.
e Retail Third-Party Seller Services has been declining gradually. But the analyst estimates
it to remain constant in between 20-25% for next 2-3 years and then decline gradually.
e Retail Subscription services has been fluctuating in between 35-45%.
o AWS (Amazon Web Services) has been declining but a very healthy growth rate has been
maintained.

e Other has been again fluctuating.
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(II) Income Statement Performance:

Historical Analysis

{in OIS . share dafa 2016A 2MTA
Income Staterment

MNet Product Sales 79,268 o4 655 118,573 141,915 160,408
| Net Service Sales 27,738 41,322 59,293 90,972 120,114
| Total Net Sales 107,006 135,987 177,866 232,887 280,522
| Operasng Expenses:
| Costof Sales 71,651 88,265 111,934 139,15 165,536

Fuliiliment 13410 17,619 25243 34 027 40,232

: Markesng 5,254 7,233 10,069 13,814 18,878
| Technoiogy and Content 12,540 16,085 22620 28,837 35,931
| General and Admnistratve 1,747 2432 3674 4.33% 5203
Other Operating Expense, nat 171 167 214 2% 201
Total Operatng Expenses 104,773 131,801 173,760 220,466 265,981

Operating Income 2233 4,186 4,106 12,421 14,541
| Imszrest Income 50 100 202 440 832
j Interest Expense {455) {454y {848y {1417 (1,600)

Other Income (Expenss), net (256) 20 M5 (183 208

Total Non-Operatng Income [Expense) {655) (294) {300) (1,160) (565)

Income Before Income Taxes 1,568 3,892 3,806 11,261 13,976
| Provision for Income Taxes (950) (1,425) (769) (1,197) (2,374)
| Equity-Meshod Investment Acivity, net of tax (22) {95) ) 9 (14)

Net Income 596 231 3.033 10,073 11,588

Figure 3.2 Past Income Statement Performance at Amazon

Analyst Commentary:

e The Net Sales/Revenues has *Almost Tripled’ over last 5 years.

e The Total Operating Expenses has also almost increased by the same pace as Revenues.
(Cost of Sales has doubled; Fulfilment Costs, Marketing costs & General Expenses has
tripled)

e The Operating Income Has Increased by ‘Almost 7 time’. (Incredible Growth in EBIT).
(Interest Expense has quadrupled meaning company has Increased Debt Obligations)

e The Net Income has increased by ‘Almost 22 times’ over last 5 years.

(The Income tax obligations has also increased but Tax Rate has decreased)
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(IIT) Balance Sheet Performance:

. - - Consensus hd
Historical Analysis _

in millions, except per share dat: 2016A 2017A
Balance Sheet
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 15,890 19,334 20522 31,750 36,092
Marketable Securities 3918 6,647 10464 9,500 18,929
Inventories 10,243 11461 16,047 17,174 20497
Accounts Receivable, net and other 6423 8339 13,164 16,677 20816
Total Current Assels 36,474 45,781 60,197 75,101 96334
Property And Equipment, net 21,838 29114 48,866 61,797 72,705
Goodwill 3759 ki 13,350 14548 14,754
Other Assels 3373 4723 8897 11,202 41455
Total Assets 65,444 83,402 131,310 162648 225248

Figure 3.3 Past Balance Sheet Performance at Amazon

Analyst Commentary:
e Total Assets has Increased Multifold or Tripled.
(The Cash & Cash Equivalents has almost tripled, Inventories has also doubled, The
Receivables has tripled which can be a very positive signal, The PP&E & Goodwill has
Also Quadrupled)
— Indicates very positive signals for the company.

.
storical Analysis

5 fa, 2016A 2017A
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Linbibes:
Accounts Payable 20,397 25,309 616 38,192 47183
Accrued Expenses and Other 10,384 13,739 18170 23,663 32438
Uneamed Revenue 3118 4,768 5,087 6,536 8,190
Total Current Liabiges 33,899 43816 57,883 68,391 87812
Long-Term Debt 8,235 7,654 24,743 33,145 63,205
Other Long-Term Liabiibes 9,926 12,607 20975 17,563 12171
Total Liabises 52,060 64,117 103,601 119,099 163,188
Stockholders' Equity
Commen Shares - 477 and 484 5 L] 5 5 5
Treasury Stock, al Cost (1,837) (1,837) (1,837) (1,837) (1,837)
Addonal Paid-In Capital 13,354 17,186 21,389 26,791 33,658
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (723) (9685) (4B4) (1,035) (98E)
Retained Earmings 2,545 4916 8,636 19,625 31,220
Total Siockholders' Equity 13,384 19,285 27,708 43,549 62,060
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity 65,444 83,402 131,310 162,648 226,248

Figure 3.3 Past Balance Sheet Performance at Amazon

Analvst Commentary:

e Total Liabilities for the company have Tripled.
(Accounts Payable has Doubled, Accrued Expenses & Unearned Revenues has Tripled,
Long Term Debt Obligations has grown eight times to boost the Revenues/Sales)

o Shareholder’s Equity / Owner’s Equity have Quadrupled.
(Retained Earnings has grown by 14 times, Additional paid-in capital has also Doubled)
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(IV) Statement of Cash Flows Performance:

CABH AND CABH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD 14, 557 15,850 19,334 21,856 32173

OPERATING ACTIVITIEE

Net Income 596 23N 3,033 10,073 11,588
Adjustments o Reconcle MNet Income o Net Cash from Operating Achvies
Depreciston of Property and Equipment 6,201 8116 11,478 15,341 21789
Siock-Based Compansmson 2,119 29718 4215 5418 6 864
Other Non-Cash Operaing E xpense, net b 486 (106) (119) 934 T
Changes n Operating Asssts and Liabites
Invenicres (2,187) (1.426) (3.583) (1.314) (3.2m8)
Accounts Recevable, net and othaer (1,755) (3,367) (4,785) (4.615) (T 681)
Accounts Payable 4294 $,030 TATS 3263 8,193
Accrued Expenses and Other @13 1,724 283 arz (1.383)
Uneamed Revenus 1.252 1,955 738 1,151 1.711
Net Cash Provided by (used in) Operating Activities 12,038 17272 18,434 30723 38514

Figure 3 4 Past Cash Flow Performance at Amazon

Anal\;s&)mmentar‘y:

e The Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities has Tripled in last S years.
(Can be attributed to: Tremendous Positive Increase in Net Income/PAT, D&A Expenses
& Stock based compensation (Non-cash expenses)).

[T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of Property and Equipment, Including Internal-Use Sofw (5,387) (7.804) (11,955) (13,427) (16.861)
Procesads from Proparty and Equipment Incenives 788 1,087 1,887 2,104 4172

isiSons, net of cash acquired, and other (785) (118) (13,872) (2,188) (2,461)
Sales (Purchases) of Marketable net (1,066) (3,023) (3,789) 1,140 (,131)
Met Cash Provided by {used in) Investing Activities (6,450) (9,B876) (27,819) (12,369) (24,281)

FINAMCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds (Repaymenis) from Long-Term Debl and Cther (1,299} 287 14,859 100 (411)
Principal Repayments of Capial Lease Obigasons (2,462) (3,860) (4,799) (7,4439) (2,628)
Principal Repayments of Finance Lease Obligasons (121) (147) (200) (337) (27)
Froceeds from |ssuing Equey (Common, Treasury, Fad-in, ec) o o o o o
Payment of Dividends (V] o o (V] o
Met Cash Provided by (used in) Financing Activities (2,882) (2,740) 9,860 (7.686) {10,066)
Faoreign Currency Eflect on Cash and Cash Equivalents (a74) (212) 713 (351) 70
Met Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalens 1,333 3,444 1,188 10,317 4,237
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD 15,890 19,334 20,522 32173 36,410

Figure 3 4 Past Cash Flow Performance at Amazon

Analyst Commentary:

e The Net Cash used in Investing Activities have Quadrupled.
(Owing to: Tripling Increase in Purchase of PP&E & Acquisitions, 8 times Increase in
Purchase of Marketable Securities)

e The Net Cash used in Financing Activities have Tripled.
(Capital lease Obligation payments have increased by 4 times, Proceeds/Repayment of
Long-term debt has been quite Uncertain)

e The Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents has always been shown but is inconsistent.

e The End of period Cash & Cash Equivalents has more than Doubled — A Positive Signal.
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(V) Free Cash Flows to Firm Performance:

- - . Consensus |WF
Historical Analysis -

fnm er share daa) 2016A 2017A

Free Cash Flow to Firm (FCFF

Operating Profit 2233 4186 4,106 12421 14 541
Less: Unlevered Taxes (1,353) (1,533) (830) (1,320 (2.470)
Net Operating Profit After Tax (NOPAT) 880 2653 3216 11101 12071
Plus: Depreciation & Amortzation 6,281 8116 11478 15,341 21789
Plus: Stock-Based Compensation 2119 2915 4215 5418 6,864
Plus: Other Non-Cash Expenses 486 (106) (119) 934 m
Less: Cash Capex (4,589) (6.737) (10,058) (11,323 (12.689)
Plus: Changes in Net Working Capital 2557 3916 (173) (1,043) (2.438)
Free Cash Flow to Firm (FCFF) 1734 10817 8619 20428 26,308

Figure 3.5 Past Free Cash Flows to Firm Performance at Amazon

Analyst Commentary:

e The Free Cash Flow to Firm has increased by 4 times, which is a very positive signal for
Investors.
(Operating Profits have increased by 7 times, D&A & Stock Based Compensation (Non-
cash expenses) have Tripled)
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Future Performance: -

(I) Information about 4 Scenarios Used to Assess Future Performance:

G21 * & =CHOOSE|$K514,G76,G130,G184,G238)

A B c 1] E F a H 1 4 K L M N o P Q

i0) | Begmentesd Revenue Growth

2 | orme 5res T W% S0w  Ws  120% 00N (128 % 0% 5w
2 | Physcal Some s 1% 0% £ 4% W% N N 00 0% 0%
)| R Toint Py Sedir Samvices Now W0 B0 M0 0% 150 120% 00w (1Y 6% 0%
M | el Submsroton Senvces 00% 0% B0% D% D% 150% 00w [T 6% H 0%
2| ams Ma e 0% B0%  Ddse  10% 0% 0% 2% % (1Y
% |Oper D% 0% S0% 450w M 0w 10w 00w [T 1% (1
21 [Total Net Bales
| Expanes
| Cost of Sales 0% [0 % % E b % o b b1 % s
31 [Flbimaet WE% Tl Ta%  BO% 1% 1% Bk 0% mi% W% 0%
T | Marketrg 2% (1. 1% % 0% % % 1% 1% L% (1Y
3 [ Trchnoiogy and Cortemt W% % W% W% % % Y YR W% % s
M| General and Adrrenartue i 1% iM% irs v i % 19% ™ 1% 1%
5| O Oparaie Epavse, net 1% 1% Q1% 0% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 2%
% g
i
| Sioc Based Compenation (SEC] (% of SGAA) % 8% 5% % % B#% 5% % % 8% 5%
3 [Tax Rae A% AN AW LY D% &% AV O¥  O% I% 4%
)| imprest Income Fie |Ciperng Blalance| 10% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1™ 1" 1% "™~
A1 | imterest E xpense R |Average Debt 1% 2% 9% LY 1% 1% 1% 1% ¥ 1% tL Y
Q
l'.l Balance Shoet

M4 | levemory Days ' u u k' u = - ' k' =

- o Sidaketsiael] EETITRINTIN - sconscios.. ORI soawonalnto > | wAcc nabss | .. @
Figure 3.6 Information about 4 Scenarios Used to Assess Future Performance

The CHOOSE Function has been used to run a ‘Live Case’, which runs the desired case out of 4
cases:
Which are,

80P s % WaT A NN N nan AR NN N NaE % AT e nas A
EQP 12012005 2012006 N7 M0 12010019 1IN0 2NN RAMAR OIS 20N RS RMAE 0N 2NN RHAE  12Na0
Days 5 ¥ *5 k. *5 B ] ¥ %5 ¥ ] x5 * ¥ ¥%5 k]

Chet Samcaer

Name Description Number Live Case »

Congenses 1 Numbe | 1 |

Bl 2 NPYSS R

Bexr 3

Other 4

Figure 3.7 Consensus Case

e Consensus Case: Talks about the Normal/Base case where forecasts have been according

to the past performance.
The Intrinsic Share Price has been: $2.879 & Enterprise value is: $1.468 Trillion.

Consensus Case has been considered while calculating the Future Performance &
Valuation.
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Figure 3.8 Bull Case
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e Bull Case: Talks about the Optimistic Case where analysts are overoptimistic in
forecasts. Hence, Inflated Equity Value & Intrinsic Share Price.
The Intrinsic Share Price has been: $4,238 & Enterprise value is: $2.153 Trillion.

Figure 3.9 Bear Case

Share Price

* Bear Case: Talks about the Pessiggijtic Case where analysts are pessimistic in forecasts.
Hence, Deflated Equity Value & Intrinsic Share Price.
The Intrinsic Share Price has been: $2,089 & Enterprise value is: $1.07 Trillion.

Historical Analysis

Figure 3.10 Other Case
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¢ Other Case: Talks about the Dismal Case where analysts are over pessimistic in forecasts.
Hence, Highly Deflated Equity Value & Intrinsic Share Price.
The Intrinsic Share Price has been: $990 & Enterprise value is: $516 Billion.
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(IT) Forecasted Individual Segment Performance:

EV. § Share Price:

Historical Analysis

purals pirris ANBE HNUE 025E H26E 27E HZE M29E HME

Seqmented Revenue

Onine Stores 163370 191043 2726 254985 200682 325564 308121 BWETI0 41384 S3BETS 460600

Physical Siores AL 17182 17192 17182 7192 718 17192 718 17182 1% 17192

Fietail Third-Party Seller Services 69,891 %0858 113572 196267 163544 188076 20BS 2708 20246 265261 276524

Fetai Subscripion Services 15804 7652 50830 66,079 7929 01188 100307 108332 14832 120573 126602

AWS 50505 70,819 05606 10507 3408 184020 1BO6ST  MIAE 2006 1607 20263

Other N1 31,691 47837 68,928 93053 11637 133764 47AM 1812 170036 180,238 BTN
Total Net Sales MI050 420054 SMG462 662077 TOTATA 903257 1000686 1103560 1192932 127344 1045707

EV: $§1468,358 Share Price: $2.879

Historical Analysis
(in milians share dats ANE  NZE  NBE NBE  MHBE  OME  NME  NNE  NME

Segmented Revenue Growth

Onine Stores 15.7% 17.0% 1

Physical Siores 214 % 15.0% 90% 94% 4% 1

Retai Third-Party Seler Services 30.0% 30.0% 25.0% 200% 20.0% 15.0% 120%
Retal Subscripon Services 40.0% 40.0% 36.0% 30.0% 20.0% 15.0¢ 1
AWS 35.0% 25.0% 20.0% 1

Total Net Sales 4% B ua% N 18.7% U 11.8% 93% 81% 6.7% 5.T%

Figure 3.11 Assumptions about forecasted Segment Performance

Analyst Commentary:
The Segment Revenue Growth Forecasted for:
e Online stores have been taken at around 16-17% in first few years and, then reducing
gradually over the years and, sales from online stores have tripled in next 10 years.
e Physical Stores has been taken at Quite Inconsistent pace in first few years, then
normalizing the growth rate over the years.
e Retail Third-Party Seller Services has been taken at around 25-30% in first few years
and, then reducing gradually over the years and, revenue from 3P have Quadrupled in

next 10 years.

e Retail Subscription services has been taken at around 30-40% and, then reducing
gradually over the years and, revenue from 3P have increased by 5 times in next 10 years.

o AWS (Amazon Web Services) has been taken in between 35-45% in first few years and,
then reducing gradually over the years and, revenue from AWS have increased by almost
6 times in next 10 years.

e Other has been taken in between 35-50% and, then reducing gradually over the years and,
revenue from AWS have increased by almost 9 times in next 10 years.
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(IIT) Forecasted Income Statement Performance:

n M
Income Statement
Net Product Sales 20,688 40,056 285 455 0 400,528 435,073 508.0m 551,103 569,548 625,903 658,008
Net Service Sales 147,370 199,328 260,000 ngn 36,47 44 184 300,608 552457 602,584 647,531 647,758
Total Net Sales 149,059 434 354 546 462 62 977 THT 174 WIAT 109688 1100560 1192902 137TI4M 1 M5TW
Ciperaing E xpenses:
Cost of Sales 213.0M9 268,198 35485 Ban 464 433 s an 600,763 656,618 103,830 151.3% Tar
Fuulillment 51007 B6, 167 B33 102,761 12,78 141,811 153,530 176,570 190,855 23,748 21538
Marketng 2353 %37 147 N45 186 %43 63,089 kL T2 788 71679 80,748
Technology and Content 439 55,875 634% 34 100,108 12,907 12621 137,945 45,14 152812 161.4%
General and Admevsranve 7210 4075 11,288 13,20 15,743 18,085 20,19 20,%8 22086 24195 25,510
Other Oparaing Expense, net ke a %4 850 ™ % 843 881 05 %6 1020
Tessd Operaneg Expemses 16488 426,179 a3 635,881 753,003 862,943 97063 1060299 1137173 12078 1.4
| Opesating Income 12,54 13,176 250 %1% uimn 4.4 15 4162 55,760 G276 7444
Irierest [ncome £ M 483 Ll 1265 1,785 2304 3,003 3718 4516 543
Imaeregt Expanse (1,638 (1,638) (1,638) {1,638 {1638 (1,638 (1,638) {1,638 {1838 {1,638 1,638
Other Income (Expense), net
Tetal Noa-Operating Income (Expense) (1214 (1,645) (1,156) @ 374 w [r.] 1364 2080 2878 3804
Income Before Income Taxes 1,315 11,531 Fik ] 25,28 18 0461 B 5% 57839 65,584 78,148
Provigion for Income Taxes 283 (2,308) (4,514) {5.685) (7605 9,904 (6,950) {10,041) 13004 (4,756) (17,583
Eqaty-Mehod Investment Actity, net of tax
Net Income 9052 925 16,561 19,563 %194 1357 a1 4,585 A 50 828 60565

I5E

Segmentsd Revenus Grewth

Oy Bioeny 5w s 16.0%: 130% Ll 120% 00 Ll T 00 ]
Pryscal Soe 2% Hive 90% LY % LELY % LY 10.0% £ (1)
o Thors P oty Sder Ssarnins X B F-10Y 0o Bl 1505 {HLY L1 B (120 L1
Rl Subacepacn Services 0% 0 Hiw Niw 0% 1508 00w L1 (1.3 LTS L1
ANS diw L Him B 0% 150 15.0% 2% 120% 00w i
Oer 0% 500% 0% 450% Wi B 15.0% L) Bise T0% (1]
Total Ket Sales.

Cost of Sales. 0% [ % % B W% % BN % % B%
Fulilmers. uE% 11% 134% % 1% Bi% 1hE% %R 16.0% L1 ®Re
Markanng 28% 8% B1% 6% E% BI% 6% £.1% 5% 6% E%
Techniogy and Comtest 1'% 2% 121% i % % 15% 2% 1% 2% i
(Jemers ard AdTensrve iM% 1% 1% i i % i 1% 15% 19% 1%
Otiver Cpeming E xpense, net 0% 1% 0.1% 1% 01% 0.1% 0% 1% 0.1% 1% 01%
Tohal Operating Fapenses T — W% Wik By WIR BI% B W W% BN BI% “HET
Srxch-Based Compmeeaton (S8C) (% of S84 bE% % A% L% 5% bA% L% % ba% L% 5%
Tax Fae avs Pl Y% avs avs ©A¥% s ars €A % avs
Irtmerst lncome Fate (Oiperng Halsce| 1% 15 1% 1% 1% 1% 10% 15% 1% 1% 1%
Irtmewat E xpaese Rate | Avarnge Debe a9% 9% 9% % 9% 5% 9% 2% 9% 9% 9%

Figure 3.12 Assumptions about Income Statement Performance

Analyst Commentary:

e The Net Sales/Revenues will Quadruple over next 10 years.

e The Total Operating Expenses will also almost increase by the same pace as Revenues.
(Cost of Sales is decreasing over time & will be tripled; Fulfilnent Costs, Marketing
costs & General Expenses has also quadrupled — All expenses are expressed as % of
Revenue).

o The Operating Income Will Increase by ‘Almost 6 time’ in next 10 years. (Incredible
Growth in EBIT).

(Interest Expense has been assumed to be constant as it is difficult to forecast)
e The Net Income has increased by ‘Almost 7 times’ over next 10 years forecast.

(The Income tax obligations has also increased but Tax Rate has been assumed to be in
between 20-22.5%)
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(IV) Forecasted Balance Sheet Performance:

EV b Share Price

Historical Analysis
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Figure 3.13 Assumptions about Balance Sheet Performance

Analyst Commentary:

e Total Assets has been forecasted to increase by 5 times over next 10 years.
(The Cash & Cash Equivalents has been negative in first year because of Repayment of
long term debt (Cash Outflows) and then it will increase tremendously by 14 times
because of no future long term debt repayments (assumed) , Inventories will quadruple,
The Receivables will get tripled which can be a very positive signal, The PP&E will get
tripled & Goodwill is assumed to remain constant)
— Indicates very positive future signals for the company.
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EV: 1454 35 Share Price

Historical Analysis
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Figure 3.13 Forecasted Balance Sheet Performance

Analyst Commentary:

e Total Liabilities for the company will get Tripled over next 10 years.
(Accounts Payable will get Quadrupled, Accrued Expenses & Unearned Revenues will
also get quadrupled, Long Term Debt Obligations has been assumed to remain constant
after, repayment of substantial amount in first year.)

o Shareholder’s Equity / Owner’s Equity will increase by 8 times.
(Retained Earnings will grow by 9 times, Additional paid-in capital will also grow by 7
times)
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(V) Forecasted Statement of Cash Flows Performance:

Ev 1 Share Price $2879

Historical Analysis
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Cash Flow Statement
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Figure 3.14 Forecasted Cash Flows Performance

Analyst Comlentary:

e The Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities is forecasted to increase by 8 times in
next 10 years.

(Can be attributed to: Forecasted Tremendous Positive Increase in Net Income/PAT, D&A
Expenses & Stock based compensation (Non-cash expenses)).

EV Share Price

Historical Analysis
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Figure 3.14 Forecasted Cash Flows Performance

Analyst Commentary:

e The Net Cash used in Investing Activities will get more than Doubled over next 10 years .
(Owing to: Almost Tripling Increase in Purchase of PP&E & Acquisitions, Rest have
been assumed to be constant).

e The Net Cash used in Financing Activities will fluctuate but will remain almost similar
over next 10 years. (Capital lease Obligation payments will increase tremendously,
Proceeds/Repayment of Long-term debt will be huge in first year then, will become null.)

e The Net Increase in Cash & Cash Equivalents will get almost tripled over time but will
be negative in first year.

e The End of period Cash & Cash Equivalents will increase by 15 times — A Positive
Signal.

(Because of Huge initial Cash & Cash Equivalent Balances)
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(VI) Forecasted Free Cash Flows to Firm Performance:
EV: 8 Share Price:

Historical Analysis
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Figure 3.15 Forecasted Free Cash Flows to Firm Performance

Analyst Commentary:
e The Free Cash Flow to Firm is forecasted to double over next 10 years, which is a very
positive signal for Investors.

(Operating Profits will increase by 6 times, D&A & Stock Based Compensation (Non-
cash expenses) will get quadrupled)
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Discounted Cash Flow Analysis: -

(I) Present Values of Forecasted Free Cash Flow to Firm:

EV Price:

Historical Analysis
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Figure 3.16 Present Values of Forecasted Free Cash Flow to Firm

Equity Value = Enterprise Value + Cash — Debt

Analyst Comlentarv:
e The Free Cash Flow to Firm is forecasted to double over next 10 years, which is a very

positive signal for Investors.
e The Equity value will double in 10 years from $1.45 Trillion to $3.07 Trillion.
e Hence, The Rolling Intrinsic Amazon Value Per Share will also Double.

Calculation of Net Present Value via XNPV Function:
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Figure 3.17 Calculation of Net Present Value via XNPV Function
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Calculation of Internal Rate of Return via XIRR Function:
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Figure 3.18 Calculation of Internal Rate of Return via XIRR Function
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Additional info -»
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(II) Calculation of Terminal Value:

Discounied Cash Flow [DCF ) Analysis
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Figure 3.18 Calculation of terminal value

Analyst Commentary:
¢ Terminal Value is used while calculating Net Present Value.
e The Terminal Value can be calculated via 2 ways:

Discounted Cash Flow [DCF) Analysis

Grown R
Torminal Vaks (Choose Opsan --2) ) 0%
Tarminal Vishas in Modal 2,407 581 2407 881 2T
Discourt Fiate 50%
Vahuston Date a0
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Market Price a5 of Valuation Dute §1.500

= EBITDA * Exit Multiple
» The Terminal Value via this method is: $2.407 trillion.
» More Suitable for Amazon because of EBITDA Calculation. (Excluding SBC)

EBITDA Calculation:

Historical Analysis
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Figure 3.19 Calculation of EBITDA
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2) Growth Rate Value:

Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) Analysls

Teeminal Vakse (Choose: Cpton —3,
Terminal Valae in Model
Discourt Rate
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# Shan
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Figure 3.20 Calculation of Growth Revy Value
= (FCFF of last forecasting year) * (1+Growth Rate)/ (Discount Rate — Growth Rate)
> The Terminal Value via this Method is: $2.778 Trillion.
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(III) Sensitivity of Stock Price:

Discount Rate
11.0% 10.0% 9.0% 8.0% 7.0%
Exit Multiple 8.0x $1.914 $§2073 §2.249 §2443 $2.658
10.0x $2.172 §2.359 $2.564 279 3,042
120  $243 $2,644 $2.019 $3,139 $3427
14.0x $26%0 299 $3194 $3486 $3811
16.0x 5249 $3214 $3.508 $384 $4195

Figure 3.21 Sensitivity of Stock Price

Analvst Commentary:

e Analyst Tracks the dependency o‘ﬁtocks Price on Exit Multiple & Discount Rate.
e At8.0 x — Exit Multiple & 11% - Biscount Rate, The Stock Price is: $1,914.
e At 160 x — Exit Multiple & 7% - Biscount Rate, The Stock Price is: $4,195.
e At 120 x — Exit Multiple & 9% - Discount Rate, The Stock Price is: $2,879. (Our

Intrinsic Value)
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Comparable Valuation / Sum of the Parts Valuation Analysis: -

# The Target Price as per Comparable Valuation Analysis is: $3,368.
» But the Model is not a Mainstream Model hence, DCF Valuation is considered over.

Financlal Data
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Figure 3.22 Comparable valuation Analysis

e Enterprise Value of Amazon’s 1P Business is: $210 Billion.
e Enterprise Value of Amazon’s 3P Business is: $550 Billion.
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Figure 3.22 Comparable valuation Analysis

e Enterprise Value of Amazon’s Advertising Business is: $204 Billion.

¢ Enterprise Value of Amazon’s AWS Business is: $448 Billion.
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Market Data
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Figure 3.22 Comparable valuation Analysis

¢ Enterprise Value of Amazon’s Subscription Business is: $301 Billion.
» Sum of the Parts Value of Amazon’s Business is: $ 1.714 Trillion.

» Calculation of Target Price: = Enterprise Value — Debt / Outstanding no. of Shares
= Equity Value (Market Capitalization) / No. of Shares
= $1.697 Trillion / 504 Million Shares
= $3.368

37




3.2 Qualitative Analysis:

(Management Analysis)

Snapshot of Companies latest 10-k Financial Statements:

Table of Coments
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Figure 3.23 Snapshot of Companies latest Financial statements

The Qualitative Analysis of the stock includes:

e Companies Transparency regarding factors like: Risk Disclosure.

e Transparency in disclosure of Ownership, Executives Compensation & Corporate
Governance.

¢ Disclosure of Operational Segments Performance.

¢ Disclosure in Management Dimqsion & Analysis.

e Transparency in Disclosure of Related Party Transactions.

e Disclosures in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

*All the Snapshots in Qualitative Analysis section have been taken from the Financial Statement
FY 18 & 19 And, Letter to Shareholders dated: May 1*'2019. *
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(I) Transparency in Risk Disclosure:

napshots from Financial Statements:

Biem 1A, Risk Factors

Please carefully conaider the Following discussson of significast fscton, cvemts, that imake an in our sevuribies risky. The evenin
and consequences discussed in these nsk factors could, in circumstanc es we may of muay sof be able w0 scourstely prodict. recogmize, or control. have o materal
wdverse effoct on our business, growth, reputation, prospeets, financial condition, operating results (mehuding composents of our financial resalts), cash flows,
Ilquﬂlr and stock price. These risk factors do not identify all risks that we face; uopmn-mu-h-huh-lb,k-r\m—.--m-—-un

not presently known 1o us or thal we currently do der 1o present In addvtson, the global cconomic climate amplifics
mamy of these risks.

We Face Tutense Compenition

Our basinesses are rapadly evolving snd intensely i MI-:‘ ap acroms geographies, ineluding cross- border competstson, ssd
o hilferent idusaries, imcludsng physical, e-consrce, sl services, webs and andra it servirs, cloytron
devaces, digital consent, ad grocery , and and logistics service. Some of our CTEnt and potentil comeTiie b s gIealeT fewr e, langer
Bistaries, mare customes, and of grester brand recognition, pansularly with ous new ly-lasi hed proshices snd mﬁnﬂm«mwm
may secure hener serms from vendon, sdopt mare sggressive pricing. snd devols more resources hesbogy and markctang

Ln-p-unn- cmmmty Mddqu&&embpnuldmmmd&ud&eﬂydm-dul - funded competitors, snd as cur

Ww hwmmtbumu

MMMMMWMIMMMM fra _mm‘ imcreuse
our competition. The Insemet fuc hich cnhances the abulity of new, smallcr, or besscs know busincascs to

campete agsin us. anmm‘wlmmm-ﬂmmd&ﬂu-nrmkﬂnmyﬂlupn-lMhm-ﬂnmk
regusred 1o increass our speading of keaer prices, any of whach could materially reduce our sales and profis.

Our Placeva Strain ar our Mo Fimancial,
We are continuing to rapidly and signaficantly cxpand our global inchubing i product 1mgs and scabin
infrastructure ko suppoet our retail und services busincises. The complesity of the current scale of our business can place sagnificant straun on our management,

pemonncl. systems, techaical Sosi evtmesen, s il Rnnnsiol sostel sl sopeeing fomstoss, s vor sopusaien inveveres
these factors, Fashure o manage growth effoctively could damage our reputsison., limst our growth, and negatrvely affect our operatng resuls

Adwr Expavvien infe New Products, Services, Technelogios. and Gergraphic Regtons Subjects Uy fo Addinional Risks
mmmelnudu--nam i our newer market segments, and our customers may 5ot sdopt our product of service offenngs. These offerings.
whach can difficult may subjest us o claims if customers of these afferings experience service disnptions or Gilures or
oilser quality issues. Inddlm peofitabalaty, if amy, in our newes activitics may not mect our ex pectations. and we may not be suceessful enough s these pewer
activities to recoup our investments in them, Failure to realize the benefits of smounts we imvest in new technologies, products, or services could resalt in the vahee
of those investments being writlen down or written off.

We Experience Significant Fluctuations in Our Operating Resules and Growth Rase
W are not abwarys able o accurately forocast our growth rte. W base our expense bevels and mvesmens plans on sales extimates. A significant portion of
aur expenscs and investments is fived, and we are not always sl o adjust our spending quickly cnough if our sales arc kess than expected.

Our revenie gr not be and our growth rates may docrease. Our revenue and operating profit growth depends on the
continued growth of demand for the products and services afferod by us or our sellers, and our business is condstxons
workdwide. A softcning of demand, whether caused by changes in customer prefcrences or a weakeming of the U S. or global cconomsics, may resubt in decreased
revenue or growth.

Ohar sabes and operating resulis will also fectute for many other reasons, -:!-hgﬁ:hhawsﬁu—id h—m-hm-ﬂkﬂw—-‘
*  our ahility 1o retain and increase sales to cxisting customers, aftract ne
dernands,

The Seaswmality of (her Retadl Business Places Incroased Sieaio on Owur Operations
We expect o desproportionate smount of our retail sles o ocour during our fourth quarter. Our fadhare o stock or restock populer prodices in asfficient
anumts sach that we Fail o et customer mwuunﬂym“mﬂmw pwutm we oversiock m-:-yh i

required to ki inventory which " We regularly experience
increases in our net shipping cost due 10 comp wﬂ-.#' and sl i by mocessary W ot tmchy debivery for the
holiday season. If 100 many cusiomers socess our wehsites within & short periad of time due 10 increasnd demand, we may experence InerTptons |

wystem
wake our websaies unavaslable of prevent us From efMcsontly Tallilling onders. which may reduce the volime of goods s offer of sell amd the stractivenos
prodiscts and services. In addition, we may be unable o sdequately staff our fulfillnent network and customer service conters during tese peak perods snd
delivery and other falfillment companies s customer service co-sourcers may be unable o meat the seasonal demand. Risks described clewhere i this lem 1A
veluting ko ful fillment network optimeetson and inventory sre magnified during periods of high demand.
We generally have puyiment tomms with ous ressil vendon that axtond beyond the amoust from our consumr

customers. As o resall of holiday sabes, s of Decomber 31 ut-d-n- our cash, cash equavalents, and marketable securities hakmnees typeally reach thes highest

Bevel fothes tham an & rewish of cash Bows provided by o used s investing and I‘H_lq-:mhp Thin aprating cycke ressls g correspondmg wsTass 0
scconnts payible is of December V1 Ow accounts payable balince gemnerally declnes during the first three manths of the year, esultng s o corresponsding
decling 0 our canh, canl oyuivalints, and markstable soouritio balanges.

Ohar Cammerciol Agreements, Sirategic Albamoes, and (oher Business Relanonships Eopose U Risks
We provade physical, e-commerce. snd omichanmel retal and other seryices i busineses trough commen: ial sgreaments, sirategic allances. and busmes
Ulnder thene

agreements, we provale web service, lechiokogy, Gl llment. computing. dghial storsge. ssd other services. as well s crable sellon w

affer products or wrvices theough our stones. These are complen capacity, peronnc, and other rearce
commuitiments, which may lmit the smount of busines we can service. ‘tmwhsﬂwum muﬂdﬂ-dﬂ*m of thess

cormmercial ru-nndup- whnmum-mmn Tulfillment, customer sersice, imvantony
conbent, and thisd hid sy ko mmmma!wwwuﬂawdn‘mﬂ

-mnpﬁldhthpﬂﬂﬂmidlﬂdﬁﬁwy salen Therefions, when the other company udh-unumo-c_—-

we receive may be lower than expected o the sgreement may be lerminated. Moreover, we may st be able 1o enter
nhlmwllmqﬂ:.ﬂlmml‘nm“ \lf-uwmhuhmu:hnnul-muuhuum*—mdum
l im o developing these services.

As our agrecinents terminate, we may be unable (o renew o replace these agrecments on comparable terms, or o all We may o the fature enter into

amcrdnients o leas favorshle torme of encounter partics that have difficulty mevteng their contractual obligations o . whech could sbvencly affect our oporstang

results
Our Future wrvies oty | and strateg ic alliances oreate sdionsl msks such as:
* dmruption of o ongeing busiss, cluding ks of Aanagemel R ol eustiog
businesscs,

*  ampasrment of other relationships;
= vaniability i revenise and mcome Trom enterang ko, ameading, o sach
and

+  difficulty itegrating under the commercial
agrocmonts.
Ouwr Business Suffers When We Are i Making, and and

We have acquired and isvested in a sursber of companies, and we may in the future acquire or imves! in of enter into joint ventures, with sdditional
coipanics. Thess ransactons create sk such s

+  dmruption of ous ongoing business, i luding loss of management focus on custing

Busancsses.
= problons retaining key personael;
= addi ! operating kosses and i the b we scquired of i which we mvested;

«  dhe pnmmd -mmrmwmu—wmm inchading s a result of
scquisilions:
Figure 3.24 Snapshot of Risk Disclosure by Amazon
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We Have Forcign Exchange Rick

mmuarwo:-dmm’mwym associated with, ous intemational stores and product and service offerings are exposed
o foweign exch

Inueluﬂz f i —.—nﬂMmhl'vg
‘We also hold cash i o
US. Dollar o th ies, cash

and vice versa.

The Lo af Key Semior Mansgement Personned or the Failure to Hire and Retain Highly Skilled and Other Key Personmel Could Negatively Affect Owur

W depenad On our semsion b key Jeffrey P. Bezos, our President, CEO, and Chasrman, We do not have “key
p-m hﬁhmwmﬁ Wcmnlymoﬁﬂhﬂ!d&lﬂd . ot il fiod i thee ncastry has

and other techmical staff. The loss of any of cur executive officers or other key employess or the
mqmmmnmmmpwl-mmmumﬂm

We Could Be Harmed by Data Loss or Other Security Breaches
Because we collect, process, store, and transmit large nts of data. i jal, semsitive, i and business and persanal information,
failure 1o prevent ar mitigate data loss, thefl, misuse, or other sccurity breaches or vulnerabilities o ffecting our or our vendiors® or customers technology.
and sysicms, could expose us or our cuslomers o a risk of loss, disclosure, or misuse of such information, adversely affect our operating results, result in litigation,
regulstory action (including under privacy or data protection laws), and potential lisbility hrmm:mm—un:n Bm-m-ou—nncaandmm—d

atherwise harm our business and reputation. wfmmmlmnhuﬂsm For a variety off neasons, without T
wemail, content delivery to customers, back-office support, and other functions. Some of sur systems have mpmnndp-l
wecurity breaches, and,
We Fave Risks Related 1w System and Lack wf
We wyslem il debays st make o webmites mnd sy ices ey ailable of dow o respond sl pros et s fom

efMiciently aveopsimg or Malfilling orkers o provading services to thind partees, wissh miny reshcs ssis et sabes and the aflrectivness of ous products sml serses.
Stops we tako 10 add software and hardwiare, upgrade our systoma and setwork infrasructins. s imgrove the sabaity snd efficincy of our sysems may Bot b
i wystem ﬁl-ﬂﬂmm-ﬁwlwwulﬂ
systerms O T N Ial b daensigud oo diw b e wmts s e
1mw-unmmlllhdm-ﬂmn-— Lk s andd armed EEHTAET iU,
Mdmm-«-ﬂ"mmm-ﬁhn‘un“--‘mﬂ
gy onders wmd ey b, wii by cosbd make o product sed sery oe offeriigs kess sitractive sl st us
Ao Hababiny (M-mmumllymﬁmdwwmmmhwmﬂm I acddetsom, our mssranc s may mot prossde sufTicsens
woversge to compensats for relatod losses. Ay of the 1l dasmage our anel o o remady

e Fave Nignificant fnvemsory Risk
I madlithon b risks describsd olerwhary b this Tlems | A reliuting ke Maifiliment network s bvventony optminstion by ws sl tind pertivs, we sre expossd i
-Ilnlnu-mnMn-h-lmmydm-lv-Mmrw—-lun-ul-uuwu-rwm.mﬂbl“mm&wlmnsbﬁ
whng. changes w m_up-ﬁ-pu-. _mmm“-wbwm apdagy
Mﬂmmw-mmmmh,mmmn.m proidiscts w a b on gl Dhmmand fos
hoswgvor. can chamgs significantl y hetwesn the m—nmduuwm-ﬁmﬁhﬂd-ﬁ I bebition. whven we begin solling o
manulscuring & new product. it may be difioubt e esablish vendos and s ast
duimnd. The scquisition of centsin types of invensory o roxpsines wigmificant b a il Shey may not b retumable. We sy o
orunind secbeutionn mnd i fhcant s ventony kevels of cortsin aducts, such s conssmer sloctnnics, and s G we s unable o soll ot (o sTiciem guantio
ot mewt demand during e rele vant siling scasons. Amy ons of the mventory mak faclom st forth sboy g may sdverse by affect ow operating ressits.

We Face Risks Related o Adeg o Property Rights and Boing Accwsed of nfringing bnseliectuad Properey Bights of Thied
We regand our irademarks, service marks, copyrights, patents. wede dross, wade secrets, arnd senmlar propenty as crital o

ikt mucewns, pnd we rely on trademink. copyrighe. amd prlent law, trade secret protestion, ssd conlidentsaliny and o agroemcnts with our employoes,

cusbomers, and athers i aur ? property in 104 availuble i every coumry i which our prodices snd

services aey msde availabhe w.-l....-,mnum-_m_-wna—.u_.-umu-mmam [y e——

regulations gos orming desnacn manies may ol paote ot Bradenmarks and sl propeictany oghts. We may be unsblc 1o prevent thind partees fronm scsguining

b manws that ang wimiler b, infroge apon. o diminis e vilus of our irsdemark s ansd other progeietary rights.

Wcmmwwlﬂlhdlmwdmlblnlﬁlnf-y-um‘ﬂmﬂwwn* Acticsas taken by thard parties dhat licemss ot

proy vigghis mmay materally dimsnash v value of our The [ -

sigmifiant sanceal and manager sl ressrces. w-.hmwwwmmﬂwmhuwﬁpﬂywﬂwﬂ%w

wmmmmmn.www rwprh-yn-u. Wy alaa canmd by cortam Ml others will Bt aadependenily des ehop o ot s
4 ivilent or superon tecly ant othves property rights,

We have boen subject 1, and cupect 1o continue o be ssbject 1, clains and legal allcyed by ws of the
wp-ly-utﬂnd.udm Mhﬁ—.m«mmm-hhmh-ﬂmbﬁmﬂ remsdt i the expenhinere of signsfcant nemal
againsl us, o Tor damages, i luding o sstify demasfcatisn ohliga ions o 10 obtam enses from

wmp—mmw MI“Mwmmlelw—yuh-um_w—-ﬂ:wﬂﬂvmm of ot all. These ks have been amspd fled
by the sscreuss s Shird partics w hose sole o pramany busines s o sseert such clasms

W Have a Rapidly Evolving Businevi Model and Owr Siock Price Is Highly VM

‘We have a rapidly evolving busincss model. The trading price of our i respoase o, smong other ke, the rsks
clsewhere in this lem 1A_ as well as:

= changes in intenest rales;

+  conditions or trends in the Intemes and the industry segments we operate
i

* quartorly variations in operating resulis,

+ Muctustsons i the stock market in genersl and market prices for Internet-nelated companses
particular.

*  changes i fimancial extimates by us or docisions bo imcnease of decrease future sponding or v estiment
levels:

+  changes i fimancial estimates and recommendations by securitics
el ot

*  changes i owr capitil struciure, including isasnce of sddithional delst or equity 1o the
b

. r-lhmlllﬂ of, or LA
* ramactions i0 our conuneen slock by majos s estors and cortam snal yst rvpons, sews, and
apeulaton
Vislatility in our stock price could sdversely sffect our nssiness and Hmluw—dm-bmwu-ﬁmbw-
rant lasger stock awards than we have himonicatly, whach could huet our operating rosilis o roducs the of our existung
by
Crnvernment Regulation Iy Evolving and Unfaverable Changes Could Harm Our Business
W e subyoct bo genorsl busines rogulations snd laws, s woll as nd lawe o e Intemet, physscsl. o-commerce, smd
omnschanned retasl, digital content, web services, clectronic devices, anificial inselligence tncl-ninon—lmnn and other products and services that we offer
un-ll Mmmlmmmnulmm dkata prodection. pricing. content el
device ic waste, encrgy and other
irade and jomist measures, web services, the provision of online payment services, registration, licomsing. and
R L InBe Tt a0 A ST OO O s b omi Cacalitien, the desagn e aperastion of woobestes el safety
and sani dands, the ch wtics, logality, and quality of products and services, product Labcliag, the commercial operation of unmanned sircraft
systems, and other matters. 1 is not clear how existing laws goverming ssues such as property mlnﬂlmm-ﬂwp‘\“w&)
anpects of o sch as the Iniermet, dugital content, weh services, devaces, and services. A
lns:_dm“zﬂllle- operations, and the exicnt, nature, and scope of such s evolving and ing as the scope of our
ww.--mlw-uhmuw-duh—l i by amd under existing Laws.

4 or exsmple. the £ [ i has
w—mnmmmd_mwﬂwﬂm‘uzu ition rules. L sons, laws.
actebans, ox applying those laws o inquiries, § — e
m—mﬂmwmcmnmmmm cols, Expose U i enal and crminal Lability of peaalties (ucludeng adbtantal

Practices i a menner matenially adverse W ous busines, darmage owr reputation. impede our growth, or otberwise Bave o material effect on o operatons.

Claims, £ touvesti d (hher Procecdings May Adversely Affect Our Business and Results of Operations

As an innovative company offering -wﬂe_gd_mmmmmmumm"mw,-hmoxﬂ-d
ihreatened claims, litigation, reviews, andl vty inel uling by 2 wide
range of issues. inchuding pasens and other inellecuasl propenty mamers. s, labor and u-p-_—t-ulml.pnuq dists protection,
mmmﬂdlmm m-dm-mby_-ﬂbymﬂm-d.ﬁn_nm number and scale of these proceedings

as our by o vl rench and o prodacts, services, snd operations have becomse more comples
uumuun-:-ubg.mpmm Any of these types of

Figure 3.24 Snapshot of Risk Disclosure by Amazon
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We Are Subject to Risks Kelated to Govermment Comtraces and Kelated Procurement Regulations

Our comtracts with U8 as well as state, local, and foreign, government entities are subject o various ! and other
relating 1o their formation, sdministrution, snd performance. We sre subject 1o sudits and i relatang to sur g t contracts, and any violations
coubd result in various civil and criminal penaltics and administrative sanctions, inchuding lermination of contract, refunding or suspending of payments. Rrfeiture
of profits, payment of Tines, and suspension o debharment from future government business. In additson, some of these contracts provide for termination by the
govermment al any time. withowt cause

We Are Subject i Product Liahifty Claimes When People or Property Are Harmed by the Products We Sell or Manifactre

Satike af the prodicts we sell or manufec e oaposs us o product lability o foud salety <lasms relating 1o pernal mpery or illness. death, or eaymonmsntal
o proparty damage, and can roguire produsct recalls or other actions. Thind partcs who sell products using o sorvices snd stores Incrosss our exposirs o product

clnimes, such ns when these sellers do not have sullficient protection from ssch claims. Although 'we mamtain liabshity msurance, we cannol be certain that
ernge will be adequate for linbaltses sctually incarred or that issurance will contume 1o be svailable o e on economscally ressonsble terms. or o all

Althaugh we impese contrsctisl e on sellers that are intendod w prohibil sales of contain type of products, we may not be shle 10 detect, o frce, or collect
sufficient damages for brcaches of such agroements, In addition, some of ous agrecments with owr vembon sad wilers do mot sademnify us from product labliny

We Are Swbject in Paymeni-Reloted Risks

W acoept paymients using a viriety of methosds, mchidung crodi cand, debat cand, credit accounts {inchsbng promiotonal firancing . gl cands. drec debit
Fromm & customer s bank scoount, cnsumer oy sicing. physscal bank check, and pugmml upm detivery. For exsting and future paymont un--u we offer o our
customers, we cusrently are subgect 10, and may become whiect o additonal und compliance | el asbil
eahincod authentioation procescs thal old setult 1n sigaificant coms and roduce the sase of uae of s payments produets), a8 well is e, Fot costaim paymeni
macthods, inchuding credit and debil cards, we pay interchange and other fees, which iy icrease over lime and rise sur operatsng costs and kower profitablity
W rely on third parties to provide cenain Amazon-branded payment methods and payment processing services, ncluding the processing of crodin cands, debin
cards, eloctronic checks, and promotional financing In cach case, it could disnupt ous business if thew companics become sawilling of unsble to pros e these
services W us. We alsa offer co-branded credit card programs, which could sdversely affect our operating results if renewed on bess Esvorsble terms or terminated
We are alsa subject 1o payment cand assocusbion operatmg rules, including data secursty rubes, certification roquerensents, and nides governmg electrons funds
transfiers, which could change or be reimorpeeted 1o make it difficult or impossible for s 1o comply Failure 1o comply with these rubes or sequirements. a5 well as
any breach, compromise, or failure 10 otherwise detect or prevent fraudulent activity involving our data security systems, could result in our being liable for card
issuing hanks® costs, subject io fincs and higher trunsaction foes, and loss of our shility to accept credit and debit card payments from our customers, process
electronic funds transfers, or Bcilitale other types of online payments, and our business and operating results coubd be adversely affected.

In nddition, we provide regulated services in certain jurisdictions because we enable customers o keep sceount balances with us and transfer money to third
parties, and bocaise we provide services o thind parties o facilitate payments on thess behall. JurisSictions subject us 1o reguarements fos hn.cru.lns regulatory
inspection, bonding and capstal maintenance. the use, handling, amnd scgregation of transferred funds. consumer & ng duta, and
suthentication. We are also subjxct o of volwntarily comply with & sumber of other baws and regulstions relsting 1o payments. money la-n-hnnﬂ nm ol
moncy transfers. privicy and information security, and electronic fund transfers. If we were found to be in vielation of applicable laws or regulations, we could be
subject to sdditional requirements ansd civil sned criminal penalties, o forced 10 cease providing certain services

We Are Impacted by Fraundulent or { alew ful Activities of Sellers
The luw relating 10 the kabality of onlise service provederns is cumently unsctthad. In addstion. governmental agencies have in the past and could = the future
require changes in the way this business is conducied Under our seller progmms, we maintain polcies ind processes dessgned i prevent sellers from collecting
payments, fraudulently or otherwise, when buyers never receive the proshscts they ondered or when the products received are materially different from the sellers
doscriptions, and ko provent sellers in our sores or through othor stores from selling snlaw ful, counterfoit, prmted. or solen goods, selling

Figure 3.24 Snapshot of Risk Disclosure by Amazon

Analvst Commentary:

After Analyzing the Financial Statements of Last 2 years, the company is highly transparent in

disclosure ofﬁsk related to its operations, such as:

High Competition.

Expansion Places a Significant Strain on Companies Management, Operational,
Financial, and Other Resources.

Expansion into New Products, Services, Technologies, and Geographic Regions Subjects
m company to Additional Risks.

Significant Fluctuations in Companies Operating Results and Growth Rate.

wsonality of Companies Retail Business Places Increased Strain on Our Operations.
Commercial Agreements, Strategic Alliances, and Other Business Relationships Expose
company to@sks.

Companies Foreign Exchange Risk.

Companies Data Loss or Other Security Breaches.

&nificant Inventory Risk.

Risks Bgjlated to Adequately Protecting Companies Intellectual Property Rights and
Being Accused of Infringing Intellectual Property Rights of Third Parties.

Rapidly Evolving Business Model and Companies Wk Price Is Highly Volatile.
Claims, Litigation, Government Investigations, and Other Proceedings May Adversely
Affect Companies Business and Results of Operations.
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(IT) Transparency in Disclosure of Ownership, Executives Compensation &
Corporate Governance:

Snapshot from Letter to Shareholders (Dated May 1™ 2019):

BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF SHARES

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the beneficial ownership of cur common stock as of February 25, 2019 (except as
otherwise indicated) by (i) each person or entity known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of cur common stock, (i) each director, (iii) each
executive officer for whom compensation information 1s given in the Summary Compensation Table in this Proxy Statement, and (1) all directors and
executive officers as a group. Except as otherwise indicated, and subject to any interests of the reporting person’s spouse, we believe that the beneficial
owners of common stock listed below, based on information furnished by such owners, have sole voting and investment power with respect to such
shares, As of February 25, 2019 we had 491,759,743 shares of commen stock outstanding

Amount and
Nuture of
: Benaficial Percent of

Name and Address of Beneficial Owner Oweership Clanr
Jeffrey P. Bezos 78,814,170 16.0%

410 Terry Avenue North, Seattle, WA 98109
The Vanguard Group, Ine. 30,528,310(1) 62%

100 Vanguard Blvd, Malvern, PA 19353
BlackRock, Inc. 25,807,758(2) 52%

35 East 520d Street, New York, NY 10053
Tom A. Alberg 15,648(3) =
Rosalind G. Brewer - *
Jamie 5. Gorelick 6448 -
Daniel P. Huttenlocher 573 »
Judith A. McGrath 2324 s
Indra K. Nooyi - -
Jonathan J. Rubinstein 7.893 g2
Thomas O. Ryder 8241 -
Patricia Q. Stonesifer 6,486 -
Wendell P. Weeks 1365 -
Bran T. Olsavsky 1,068 -
Jeffrey M. Blackburn 67.45%(4) =
Andrew R Jassy e
Jeffrey A. Wilke .
All directors and executive officers as a group (17 persons) 16.1%

- Less than 1%

Figure 3.25 Disclosure of Ownership

Analyst Commentary:
Company is evidently very transparent in disclosing its shareholding patterns within the

organization.
Such transparency is beneficial for the current investors & potential investors.
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Snapshot from Letter to Shareholders (Dated May 1% 2019):

Nam and Principal Position
Jeffrey P. Bezos
Chief Executive Officer

Brian T. Olsavsky
SVP and Chief Financial Officer

Jeffrey M. Blackburn
SVP, Business Development

Andrew R. Jassy
CEO Amazon Web Services

Jeffrey A. Wilke
CEO Worldwide Consumer

Figure 3.26 Disclosure of Management Compensation

Analyst Commentary:

After the analysis of company’s executive compensation policy, the following statements can be

stated:

¢ Company has tied its executive’s compensation to the long-term performance of the
company through issuing Restricted stock units that will provide greater compensations

2018 Summary Compensation Table

Year

2018
2017
2016
2018
2017
2016
2018
2017
2016
2018
2017
2016
2018
2017
2016

Sallary

§ 81840
81,840
81,840
160,000
160,000
160,000

175,000
175,000
171,250

[Er

888 888

Stock
Awards(l)
s —

6,770,149

4,395,447
10,221,162

22,019,668
15466434

35431144

19466434

32,779,614

in future. Keeping the executive’s base salary low.
¢ This has let Amazon retain their talented & capable employees.

¢ And, has also let Amazon align their Executive’s vision with the Shareholder’s Vision.
¢ This has actually made Amazon Stock Price to shoot up from $382 to $1982 (As on Date

All Other

Compentation

$ 1,600,000(2)
1,600,000
1,600,000

3,200(3

3,200

3.50003)
3,500
3425
91.232(4)
19,447
3,500
80,613(4)
9,781
3,500

Total
§ 1681840
1,681,840

1,681,840

19,722,047
184,781
32958114

of Report Compilation), in last 5 years, generating huge value for Stockholders.
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Snapshot from Letter to Shareholders (Dated May 1% 2019):

Corporate Governance
General

Board Leadership. The Board is responsible for the control and direction of the Company. The Board
the shareholders and its primary purpose is to build long-term shareholder value. The Chair of the
Bonrd is selected by the Board and currenily is the CEO, Jeff Bezos. The Board believes that this leadership
structure is appropriate given Mr. Bezos™ role in founding Amazon and his significant ownership stake. The
Board believes that this leadership structure improves the Board's ability to focus on key policy .md operational
issues and helps the Company of in the long-t interests of sl holders. In addit the i i
directors on the Board have appointed a lead director from the Board's independent directors, Lurrcnl:l)' Jonathan
b Rublrul:ln in order o promote mkpc:ruh.nl leadership of the Board. The lead director presides over the
of the independ tors, chairs Board meetings in the Chair’s absence, and provides
on agendas, schedules, infi and materials for Board meetings that will be most helpful 1o the
independent directors. In addition, the lead director confers from time to time with the Chair of the Board and the
independent directors and reviews, as appropriate, the annual schedule of regular Board meetings and major
Board meeting agenda topics. The guidance and direction provided by the lead director reinforce the Board's
independent oversight of management and contribute to ¢ ication among b of the Board.

2

Director Independence. The Board has determined that the following di are indep ch as defined
by Nasdaq rules: Mr. Alberg. Ms. Brewer, Ms_ Gorelick, Mr. Huttenlocher, Ms. McGrath, Ms. Nooyi.
Mr. Rubinstein, Mr. Ryder, Ms. Stonesifer, and Mr. Weeks. In addition, the Board determined that John Seely
Bmwn whn served as a director through May 2018, was independent during the time he served as a director. In

5" imch d. . the Board took into certain i relationships, and

Jrrangemenls. involving »ume of lhe directors and concluded that such transactions. relationships, and
arrangements did not impair the independence of the director. For Ms. Brewer and Mr. Weeks, the Board
considered paymenits in the past three years in the ordinary course of business from the Company 1o Starbucks
Corporation and Coming Incorporated, respectively. or their affilistes. All such payments were not significant for
any of these companies. For Mr. Alberg. the Board considered that Amazon and its executive officers have in the
past and may in the future invest in i Funds iged by ities where Mr. Alberg is & managing
director or pariner or in companies in which those funds invest, and that Amazon has in the past and may in the
future engage in ransactions with companics in which these funds have invested. For Mr. Ryder, the Board
considered that his so -law has been employed with Amazon since 2008 in a non-officer and non-strategic
position, as disclosed in “Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions.™

Risk Oversighs. As pan of regular Board and commitiee i . the di ives®
management of risks relevant 1o the Company . While the full Board han mmll re~pnns:-h-l:l} for risk oversight,
the Board has delegated n:-spun_b.lblllly mlalod o cerain risks to the Audit Committee and the Leadership

Develop and Comp tion C The Aw:lu Commitiee is responsible for overseeing management of
risks n:lal.cd to our financial and fi 1 reporti ng process, data privacy and munty I:ualm:m.
v. and of it 1 risks, the qualificari indey and perfi of our ¥ i
the p::rl’un:lmm:c of our internal audit function, legal and mt_nlnlury nmlh:n and our compliance PDlJLIGh and
The Leadership Develog and Comg ation C) is resg ible for
m.-mag:mellr. of risks nel.ua.l L0 SUCCession | ing and compensation for our executive officers and uur averall
ation pr includi nureqmty hnsed compensation plans, as well as risks related to human

reu.aun:es maltlers, 1nt.ludu:|g workplace discrimination and harassment. The full Board regularly reviews reports

from management on various aspects of our business, including related risks and tactics and strategies for

.u.l-d.rcvsmg l.h:m Al least anmully. (h: Board reviews our CEO succession planning as described in our Board of
G on S Governance Issues.

Figure 3.27 Disclosure of Corporate Governance

Analyst Commentary:
The corporate governance of the company is well defined & Roles of Executives are well
defined.
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(III) Transparency in Disclosure of Operational Segments Performance:

Snapshot from Financial Statement:

North America
The North America segment primarily consists of amounts eamed from retail sales of consumer products (including from sellers) and subseriptions through
North America-focused online and physical stores. This segment includes export sales from these online stones.
International

The Intemational segment primarily consiss of amounts eamed from retail sabes of consumer products (including from sellers) and subscriptions through
intermationally-focused online stores. This segment includes export sales from these internationally -focused onlime stores (including export sales from these online
stores to customers in the U.S .. Mexico, and Canada), but excludes export sales from our North America-focused online stores.

LAY

The AWS segment consists of amounts camed from ghobal sales of compute, storage, database, and other service offerings for stan-ups, enterprises,
governmenl agencics, and academic institutions,

Information on reportable segments and reconciliation 1o consolidated net income (loss ) is as follows (in mallons);

Vear Ended December 51,

27 2018 2019

Net sales 5 16110 § 141366 S 170,773

Operating expenses 103,273 134,099 163,740

Oporating incoms 5 2837 3§ 7267 § 1033
International

Net sales 5 4297 8 65866 5 74,723

Operating cxpenses 57359 68,008 76,416

Operating income (loss) 3 3063 § (2,142) § (1,693)
AWS

Net sales s 17459 § 25655 § 35026

Operating expenses 13,128 18,359 25825

Operating incoms 5 4331 § 1206 S 9,201
Consolidated

Nei sales 5 177866 § 232887 § 280,522

Operating expenses 173,760 220466 265,981

Operating income 4,106 12421 14,541

Total non-operating income {expense) 1300) (11600 1565)

Provision for income taxes (769 (1,197} (2.374)

Equity-method investment sctivity, net of tix ) 9 (14)

Net income i 1033 0§ eTs $ 11,588

Figure 3.28 Disclosure of Operations Segment Performance

Analyst Commentary:

¢ Companies Net sales & Operating Income from “North America™ has seen a Meteoric
rise. But, a matter of concern is Operating expenses are also Increasing.

¢ Companies Net sales from “International” has seen a steady rise. But Operating expenses
are also Increasing faster than Net sales hence, there is Operating loss which is
subsequently Declining.

e Companies Net sales & Operating Income from “AWS” has seen a Meteoric rise. But, a
matter of concern is Operating Expenses.

e Companies Overall Net Sales, Operating Income & Net income have increased
tremendously mostly, due to contribution from North America Segment & Performance
from AWS is also improving exponentially. Though, Rising Operating Expenses remains
a matter of concern.
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(IV) Disclosures in Management Discussion & Analysis:

Snapshot from Financial Statement:

lem 7. Managenent's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forwand-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1993, All
other than of historical fact, including ding guidance, industry prospects, or futuse results of operations or fimancial position,
rmdemmlwmmﬁam]O-KWMMWemmmhﬁme&mmm intends, and similar expressions o
identify forwand-looking statements. Forward-looking statements reflect management's current exp and are inh uncertain. Actual results could
differ materially for a variety of reasons, including, among others, fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, changes in global economic conditions and customer
spending. world events, the rate of growth of the Intemnet, online commerce, and cloud services, the amount that Amazon com invests in new business
opportunities and the timing of those investments, hmuul‘pm-dummdmmmldmmmn,hmofmnl.udmvrd&nmpmmmuwdwnh

mnmwnmhmhwmmmaumnuamlmmmufmml‘ in results, i I growth
and expansion, the outcomes of claims, litigation, go il mm delivery, nddm oenlet apbnml.
fﬂsofnwmwﬁuﬂln’ ﬂudepulol'llclwemm.mm and develop i

ions and strategic risks, and risks of and p due ity. hmmﬂn:hhﬂwdlmamﬂ:ﬂs
nuyol&mmk;ﬂmnﬂsmﬂummsweﬂsmmmmﬂcmldmwmmubmnmﬁmﬂym

s exp are described in greater detail in liem | A of Part L, “Risk Factors "

Overview

Owr primary source of revenue s the sale of a wide range of products and services to cistomers num:udmmm@unmimm
merchandise and content we have purchased for resale and products offered by thind-party sellers, and we als and sell el devices and produce
media content. Generally, w:mmnlmMmeullflumwmﬂﬂ.mjrnpudmuhnﬂmw:wnﬁMufnvu-ul’l:rmmld
by third-party sellers as service sales. We seek 1o increase unit sales across our stores, through i 300, BCFORS product

We also offer other services such as compute, storage, and database offerings, fulfillment, sdvemising, publishing, and digital content subscriplions.

Owr finamcial focus is on long-term, ml‘dﬂllkgmlﬁhﬁwmxkﬂmv! Free cash flows are driven primarily by increasing operating income and
efficiently managing working capital® and cash capital exp ding our decision to purchase or lease property and equipment. Increases in operting
|mpnmanlyluultiom mlualﬁ nfmmuldmwandeﬁmuymmpnwrmm partially offset by investments we make in
Innger-term strategic i ding capital di focused g the To increase sales of products and services, we focus
onunpmmgz]] aspects ¢ nl‘xlrum :l:peﬂu!:l. mdll‘lug hw:r-gp!!u lq)nwm l\‘all*llly offering MMI\WMMM Increasing

ginal content, product and service offe product improving case of use, improving
reliability, and caming customer trust.

We seek to reduce our variable nmmmirduﬁmlnmwﬂmdmuﬂuvmdﬂ: costs include product and content costs, payment processi
and related bon costs, picking, ing orders for sh lcnlc:ﬂq:pnllcnmnmlnn-:\w&adl
portion of our marketing costs. Our fixed costs mhhll\gmmmwmhddmdmnourmmy-fmm o build, enhance, snd add features 1o our
onling stores, web services, electronic devices, and digital offerings; and 1w build and optimize owr fulfillment and delivery networks and related Bcilitics. Variable
costs generally change directly with sales volume, while fixed costs generally are dependent on the timing of capacity needs, geographic expansion, category
expansion, and other factors. Tndwwe«n\mhkmoupamuthmudmblemlo lower prices for customers, we seek fo increase our direct sourcing,
m!dmﬁun-wmg-ﬂm&fmumul y growth in fixed costs, we seek to impeove process efficiencies and
maintain a lean culture.

Becanise of our model we are able 1o hirm our trventory quickly and have a cash-generating operating cyelé. On average, our high inventory velocity means
we generally collect from consumers before our payments 1o suppliers come due. We expect variability in inveniory tumover over time since it is afflected by
numerous factors, inchading our product mix, the mix of sales by us and by third-panty sellers, our continuing focus on in-stock inventory availability and selection
of product offerings, our investment in new peographics and product lines, and the extent to which we choose to utilize thisd-party ful illment providers. We also
expect some variability in accounts payshle days over time since they are affected by several factors, including the mix of product sales, the mix of sales by third-
party sellers, the mix of suppliers, scasonality, and changes in payment terms over time, including the effeet of balancing pricing and timing of payment terms with
suppliers.

We expect spending in technology and content will increase over time as we add compuler scientists, designers, software and hardy i and
merchandlsing employees. Our lechnology and content brvestment and capltal spending profects ofien support a variely of product and service offerings due to
eographic expansion and the cross-fimctionality of our systems and operations. We seek to invest efficlently in several areas of technology and content, Including
AWS, and expansion of new and existing product categories and service offerings, as well as in technology infrasiructure fo enhance the customer experience and
improve our process efficiencies. We believe that advances in techaology, specifically the speed and reduced cost of processing power, the advances of wireless
connectivity, and the practical applications of antificial imtelligence and machine leaming, will continue to improve the consumer experience on the Intemet and
increase its ubiquity in people’s lives. To best take advantage of these continued adv in technology, we are investing in initiatives to build and deploy
innovative and efficient sofrwase and electronic devices. We are also investing in AWS, which offers a broad set of global compute, storage, database, and other
service offerings 1o developers and enterprises of all sizes.

We seek to efficiently manage shareholder dilution while tning the flexibility to tssue thares for strategle purposes, such as flnancings, acquisitions,
and aligning empl with shareholders " interests. We utilize restricted stock unmswmrpchmlehequnymmmbmmwe
hlm:hlwnﬂdmhlwﬁmﬂldmﬂnﬂnﬂmd ! In harcholder dilution, we inchude all vested and

unvested stock swards outstanding, without regard 1o estimated forfeitures. Total shares mmlngp]usmmq stock awards were 507 million and 512
million as of December 31, 2018 and 2019,

Our financial reporting currency s the US. Dollar and changes in foreign exchange rates significantly affect our reported reswlis and consolidated irends
For example, if the U.S. Dollar weakens year-over-year relative 1o currencies in our international locations, our consolidated net sales and operating expenses will
be higher than if currencies had remained constant. Likewise, if the U.S. Dollar strengthens year-over-year relative to currencies in our intemational locations, our
mmdaedmn]aadapmqapnmwdlhlmuﬁmﬂmhﬂmmdm We belicve that our increasing diversification beyond the

US. economy through our grow: b benefits our shareholders over the long-term. We also believe it is useful 1o evaluste our operating
mﬂnndpmﬁmbehnndaﬂndneﬁmolmym
In addition, the of our i wpany balances can result in sgnificant gains and losses associated with the effect of movements in foreign

curency exchange rates. Currency volatilities may continue, which may significantly impact (either positively or negatively) our reported results and consolidsted
trends and comparisons.

Figure 3.29 Disclosure in Management Discussion & Analysis
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Analyst Commentary:

In this section, the company talked on lengths about its:

ﬁ'nancial performance in relation to past years.

Primary source of revenue which is the sale of a wide range of products and services to
customers.

How @npany’s financial focus is on long-term & sustainable growth in free cash flows.
How the company is able to convert inventories quickly because of its business model &
is able to raise its Net Income.

How the company is able to reduce its various cost efficiently & leverage its fixed costs.
Future projections for the upcoming Quarter of March 2020, the projections for Net sales
& Operating income seemed Genuine because of its relative past performance in
previous quarters. The track of the company has been quite consistent in relation to its
forecasts.
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(V) Disclosures regarding Related Party transactions:

Snapshot from Letter to Shareholders (Dated May 1 2019):

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PERSON TRANSACTIONS

Justin Burks, an employee of Amazon, is the son-in-law of Thomas O. Ryder, a director, In 2018, Mr. Burks
earned $160,000 in salary. He was also granted a restricted stock unit award with respect to 88 shares, vesting
over 2.6 years. His compensation is consistent with the total compensation provided to other employees of the
same level with similar responsibilities.

Jeff Bezos, our President. CEQ. and Chairman. owns Blue Origin. an aerospace manufacturer and
spaceflight services company, and entities that publish The Washington Post, and we do business in the ordinary
course with each company. In 2018, Amazon sold approximately $1.9 million of consumer goods to Blue Origin
under a line of credit. In 2018, Amazon purchased or obtained approximately $2.3 million of advertising from,
and paid approximately $6.2 million related to digital content to, the Washington Post entities, and the
Washington Post entities paid Amazon approximately $130,000 for subscriber services in 2018, all on terms
negotiated on an arms-length basis.

The Audit Committee reviews and, as appropriate, approves and ratifies “related person” transactions,
defined as any transaction, arrangement, or relationship (including any indebtedness or guarantee of
indebtedness), or any series of similar transactions, arrangements, or relationships, in which (a) the aggregate
amount involved will or may be expected to exceed $120,000, (b) Amazon is a participant, and (¢) any Related
Person has or will have a direct or indirect material interest (other than solely as a result of b a director or
trustee (or any similar position) or a less than 10 percent beneficial owner of another entity). A “Related Person™
is any (a) person who is an executive officer, director, or nominee for election as a director of Amazon,

(b) greater than 5 percent beneficial owner of our outstanding common stock, or (c) Immediate Family Member
of any of the foregoing. An “Immediate Family Member” is any child, stepchild, parent, stepparent, spouse,
sibling, mother-in-law, father-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, brother-in-law, or sister-in-law, and any

person (other than a tenant or employee) sharing the household of a person. We do not have writien policies or
procedures for related person transactions but rely on the Audit Commitiee’s exercise of business judgment,
consistent with Delaware law, in reviewing such transactions.

Figure 3.30 Disclosures regarding related party discussion

Analvst Commentary:

¢ All the rumors regarding related party transactions were appropriately addressed in the
document titled: ‘Letter to Shareholders’ published on May 1* 2019.

e Amazon has addressed all the related party transactions, which signifies transparency in
its dealings from the company.
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(VI) Disclosures in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements:

Snapshot from Financial Statements:

AMAZON COM, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note | — DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Busimess

W seck 10 be Earth’s most customer-centric company. In each of our segments, we Serve our primary cusiomer sets, consisting of consumers, sellers,
developers, enterprises. snd content creators. We serve consumers through our online and physical stores and m«nelmmmmdLmume We offer
programs thai enable sellers 1o sell their products in our stores and fulfill orders through us, and theat allow authors, 1l k skill and app
Mmandnﬂﬂsnplﬂnhamiulln'.-cu_Wemeh:hpusandenlﬂpmﬁnfaﬂmmﬂuughmAWSsegm‘hchnﬁ’mabuﬂsudglnbal
compute, storage, database. and other service offerings. We also In addition, we provide services, such as advertising to
sellers, vendors, puhluh:mulduﬂhﬂl:.d:mdlmmmhsmwmdmm amivbdco.ﬁ\m

We have iaed ntothree Morth Amscrica, Intermational, and AWS. See “Note 10 — Segment Information.™

Prior Period Reclassifications
Ca‘lnmm.m'pmadmuum}nvehmne:hmﬂednmhnlnmewpunipmscnmm.mhﬁnaﬁnddmmdmnmdnﬂxmmhndmh
1 of cash flows and the reclsssification of long-term capital lease obli that exissed at Dy ber 31, 2018 from

“&Mkwmldﬂfm'm “Long-term lease liabilities™ within the consolidated balance sheets, s a result of the adoption of new accounting guidance. See
“Accounting Pronouncements Recently Adopted ™

Principles of Consalidation
The consolidated financial ststements include the sccounts of Amazon.com, Inc. and its umdndmnunllmmy lhc ‘tu'npuny ). consisting of its
wh:ny-u&naduubnult-nndm:nlnnul-d\wvhmenm.hlemrcruundarnhnhwmmepm in India
and cerain entities that support our seller lending financing sctivities. | balances and sons between lidsted entities are elima d. The
fimancial results of Whole Foods Market, Ine. (“Whole Foods Maket™) have been included in our didsted financial from the date of isition on
Angust 28, 2017.
Use of Estimates
The ion of financial in v with GAAP requines mm-ﬂmmmlﬂ llTethleoﬂedmunll of asscts and
lisbilitics, revenues and expenses, and related discl of i huhlllwln&: | financial notes. Estimales are
used for, but not limited 1o, income taxes, wsefil lives of equip i i nﬂmufquﬂmﬁamdmd.undlm

compensation forfeinre rstes, vendor funding, and inventory valustion. Actual resulis could differ materially from those estimates. For example, in Q4 20019 we
completed a useful life stady for our servers and are increasing the usefl life from theee vears to four years for servers. in January 2020, which, based on servers
that are included in “Propenty and equipment, net” as of December 31, 2019, will have an anticipated impact 1o our 2020 operating income of $2 3 billion.

Earnings per Share

Basic camings per share is using our weigl i shares. Diluted carnings per share is calculated using our weighted-
average outstunding comemon shares including the dilutive effect nl‘dack awirds as determined under the treasury stock method. In periods when we have a net
loss, stock awards are excluded from our calculation of camings per share as their inchusion would have an antidilutive effect.

Revenie

Revenue is measured based on the amount of consideration that we expect to neceive, reduced by estimates for Il onal discounts, and
rehates, Rmnﬂmndnﬂumymmﬂoﬂdmhﬁdfdmm including sales and indirect taves. In armngements where we have multiple
perfs ion praice is allocated 10 cach performance obligation using the relative stand-alone selling price. We generally determine
smﬂmhmxﬂmgmmnhdmwmwmmmmmudmphnm

A deseription of our principal revenue generating activities is as follows:

Retadl sales - We offer consumer products through our online and physical Revenue i ired when control of the goods is transferred to the

customer, which generally occurs upon our delivery 1o a thind-pany carmier or, ihcﬁeofnﬁmvﬁiiwry o the customer.

Thire-party seller services - We offer programs that enable sellers 10 sell their products in our stores, and fulfill orders through us. We are not the seller of
record in these transactions. The commissions and any relsted fulfillment snd shipping fees we cam from these arrangements are recognized when the services are
rendered, which generally occurs upon delivery of the related products 1o a thind-party camier or, in the case of an Amazon delivery, to the customer.

Subscription services - meﬁﬂmﬂﬁmﬁﬁnmindnnmmhin iberships and access to includi diobooks, digital
wideo, digital music, e-books, and other non- A\\'S bhscription services. Pri b provide our with sccess to an evolving suite of benefits
that represent a single stand-ready obligati ipdi -n-p-dhnhma[wnd&mefﬂvmmmnMmﬁunmhwmmmsn

recognized over the sthmpuonptmd

AWS - Our AWS arrangements include globel sales of compute, storage, datsbase, and other services. Revenue is allocated to services wing stand-alone
selling prices and is primarily recognized when the customer uses these services, based on the quantity of services rendered, such as compute or storage capacity
delivered on-demand. Centain services, including compute and dstsbhase, are abso offered 25 a fined quantity over a specified term, for which revenue is recognized
ratably. Sales commissions we pay in connection with comtracts that excoed one year are capitalined and amortized over the contract term.

Orher - Other revenue primarily includes sales of advenising services, which are recognized a5 ads are delivered based on the number of clicks or
impressions,

Return Allowances

Return allowances, which reduce revenue and cost of sabes, are etimated wing histonical expenence. Liabilitics for retm allowances are included in
“Accrued expenses and other” and were $468 million, $623 million, and $712 million 35 of December 31, 2007, 2018, and 2019. Additions to the allowance were
$1.8 billion, $2.3 billion, and $2.5 billioa and deductions from the allowance wene $1.9 billion, $2.3 billion, and $2.5 billion in 2017, 2013, and 2019. Included in
"In\-uﬂmu"nnu.mmalnlalndhhm:ﬂnd;mmhﬂng%mlhl.ﬂl?mﬂm and $629 million as of December 31, 2017, 2018, and 2019, for the
rights to recover products fro iated with our li for

Cost of Sules

Cost of sales primarily consists of the purchsse price of consumer products, inhound snd cuthound shipping costs, including costs related to sortation and
delivery centers and where we are the transportation service provider, and digital media content costs where we record revenue gross, including video and music.
Shipping costs 1o receive products from our suppliers are included in our inventory, snd recognized as cost of sales upon sale of products to our customers.
Payment p ing and related ion costs, including those d with seller ions, are classified in “Fulfillment” on our consolidated statements
of operations.

Figure 3.31 Disclosures in Notes to Accounts
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Vemdor Agreements

We have agreements with cur vendors funds ily for eﬂ!mpumdm*ws.uduuhmmw:pmnly
consider these smounts received from vendors 10 be a reduction of the prices we pay for their goods, i propesty and or services, and are
recorded as a reduction of the cost of inventory, cost of services, or cost of property and equipment, Volume rebates typically depend on reaching minimum
purchase thresholds. We evaluate the likelihood of reaching purchase thresholds using past experience and current year forecasts. When volume rebates can be
reasonably estimated, we record a portion of the rebate as we make progress towards the purchase threshold.

Fulfillment
Fulfillment costs primarily consist of those  costs mmmd in operating and staffing our North America and Inlunml segmients” fulfillment umn
physical stores, and SErvice centers, mlﬂyng.mnmglwmg. ; picking. and
orders for sh payment mdvdalui don costs, including cosas iated with our for certain seiler
i ing 1o inquines from and supply chain for our ic devices. costs also include
‘amounts paid to third partics that assist us in and i i
Technology and Comtent
Technology and content costs inchude payroll snd related expenses for employees involved in the research snd development of new and existing products
and services, devel design, and of our stores, curation and display of products and services made available in our online stores, and

infraswructure costs. Infrastructune costs include servers, nerworking equipment, and data center related depreciation and amortization, rent, utilities. and other
CXPHISES MOCEESETY 10 support AWS and other Amazon businesses. Collectively. these costs reflect the investments we make in order wo offer a wide variety of
products and services o our customers. Technology and content costs are gemerally expensed as incurred.

Marketing
Marketing costs primarily consist of advertising and payroll and relsted for 1 engaged in rh and selling activities. including sales.
commissions related o AWS. We pay commissions to third parties when thesr costomer referrals resull in ssles. We also ! in g i

armangements with certain of our vendors, snd other third parties.
1 g amd other costs 1o market our products and services are expensed s imcurredand were $6.3 billion, $8_2 billion, and $1 1.0 billion in
2017, 201K, and 2019,

Gemeral and Admimistrative
General and sdministrative expenses primarily consist of costs for corporste functions, including pymumd:dnnﬂnpm facilities and equipiment
expenses. such s depreciation and amoenization expense and rent, and | fees and li

Siock-Baved Compensation

Cwmmhrdlmkmm&apﬂhdmmum-fmvdumhmdwwwmwmemuﬁmmﬁ'm
of icted sock units is de Mdml!:mnﬂberofm;ﬂmedandlheqwmdpnuofwmmm Such value is recognized as expense over
the service period, net of esti d forfii using the ! d method. The estinated number of stock awards thar will ubtimately vest requines judgment,
andmnuemacmalmluolMMﬂnmlud:ﬁnﬁuumcmﬁnmlmmhalm_swllbem«hdsamuhtmﬂjmumtemd
esmmates are revised. We consider many factors when ing expectad issorical forfel e and level.

Other Expe Net

Other img expense (i ML, CONSIENS PR ily of marketing related, contract-based, and related ible asset ization expense,
and expenses related to legal senlements.

Other Income (Expense), Net
Other income net, consists primarily of adj to and gains on equity securities ofS 18 million, $145 million, and $231 million in 2017,

2018, and 2019, equity warrant valustion gains (losses) of$ 109 million, $(131) million, and $11 million in 2017, 2018, and 2019, and foreign cumency gains
(losses) of $247 million, $(206) million, and $(20) million in 2017, 2018, and 2019,

Income Taxes
hmmcxpmumhduus|kﬂmlﬂsm:)ndﬂngnnmm&mafmgnm are subject 10 U.S. waxation under the U.S.
Tax Act, which also repesls US, taxation on the n of those earnings. We intend to invest substantially all of our foreign subsidiary camings,

5wellumuphlnmkmlnﬂ“ﬁnﬁlmmm“huS|ndtonpndﬁmlnwtﬂ|wewoddmﬂplﬁcmﬁmlmwm
repatriation of such amounts.

Deferred income tax balances reflect the effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilitics and their tax bases and are
stated ot enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when taxes are sctually paid or recovered.

Defierred tax assets are evaluated for fisture realization and reduced by a valuation allowance 1o the extent we believe they will nmbnuh.wl We consider
many factors when sssessing the likelihood of future realization of our deferred tax ssiets, including our recent lative loss exy and of
fuature camings, capital gains and investment in such jurisdiction, the carry-forward periods available 1o us for tax ing purp and other relevant factors.

We utilize a two-step b 1o recognizing and i in income tax positions (tax ngenc ‘l'h-eﬁrstswpsmnahuwlhhxpmm
ﬁrmmmmbydamng:fﬂnmndnahmhh&ﬂmmamdnluulsm]iﬂyﬁumuhpu(mwmh ined on auadit, i lution of
rdnlndawuhmlmﬂmpmcmnﬂumdmuInmusmlhtmbﬂtﬁtuﬂkh}mﬂtmwhhlsmmmmﬂyn{wﬂgmﬂmw
ultimate settlement. We consider many factors when evaluating our tax positions and g our tax benefits, which may require periodic adjustments and
wlmhlnymmlnwlyﬁn:anmmlm\l’eimkﬁﬂmwpmﬁﬁmmmmmcmﬁmnﬁmlummm

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received wsdlmmwmdwmﬂmmlwmummummummu
the measurement date. To increase the hility of fair value the fi B the inputs 1o valy ol used o
measure fair value:
Level 1| — Valuations based on quoted prices for identical asscts and liabilities in active markets.
Level I — Valuations based on observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities
in active markets, quoted prices for idemtical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that ase not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be

comoborated by observable market data.
Level 3— Valustions based on usob ble inputs reflecting our own ot : with " i e by oih
nsarkel particip These B TEyuEre sigin I
Foe our cash, cash equival sk i wmh&uuﬂuﬁmmﬂﬂ&nﬂsuﬂﬁﬂumﬂkﬂaﬂemwmhudm
Mﬁdmﬁlnmmmmmlmhu‘ balities. Other were valued either based on recent trades of securities in inactive

markets or based on quoted market prices of similar instruments and other significant inputs derived from or cormoborated by observable market data. We did not
hold significant smounts of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, or marketshle securities categorized as Level 3 assets a5 of December 31, 2018 and 2019,

We hold equity warranis giving us the right 1o acquire stock of other companies. As ofDecember 31, 2008 and 2019, these warrants had a fair value of$440
million and $669 million, and are recoeded within “Other assets™ on our consolidated balance sheets. These assets are primarily classified as Level 2 assets.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
We classify all highly liguid instruments with an original maturity of three moaths or bess as cash equivalents,

Figure 3.31 Disclosures in Notes to Accounts
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Irvemtories

Immmmudmﬁc&amlﬂehmmmlymfamwﬁmlmMMnnﬂmvﬂMuwmrdhﬂm
met realizable value. This valuation requires us 1o make j v about the likely method of disposition. such s
Mﬂlﬂmmﬂn‘“mmbﬂmﬂlﬁ!\mn!' it and d bl values of each disposition category.

We provide Fulfillment by Amazon services in connection with certnin of our sellers” progmmes. Third-party scllers maintnin ownership of their inventory,

less off whether [ by us or the third-pany selbers, and therefore these products ane nod included in our mvenlones.

We also purchase clectronic device components from a varety of suppliers and wse several contract manufaciuress o provide manufaciining services for our
products. Dusing the nonnal cousse of business, in order Lo manise manuficturiag lead times snd help eaiuse sdequate supply. we enter o agreements with
cOntERct and sipplicts for certain ¢l i device S - A portion of sur sepemed purchase commitments srising from these agrecments
consists of fim, The are based on demand. If we reduce these commitments, we may incur
additional costs. We also have firm, non-cancellable commitments for certain products offered in our Whole Foods Market siores.

Accounts Receivable, Net and Ouher
Included in ~Accounts receivable. net and other™ on our consolidated balance sheels are amounts primarily related 1o customers, vendors, and sellers. As of
December 31, 2018 and 2019, customer receivables, net, were $0.4 bllion and $12.6 billion, vendor receivables. net. were $3.2 billion and $4.2 bilbon. and seller
receivables, sel, were S710 million and S863 million. Seller receivables are amounis due from sellers related 1o our seller lending program, which provides
funding 1o sellers primarily 1o procure inventony.
ngmbmmwnﬂenhadmhmwﬂcdwmuﬂhm&dﬂwmnfmmmmuclmmmdlww

written-ofl when it is probable that all due will not be ‘with the terms of the agreement. The allowance for doubtful
sccounts was $348 million, $495 million, sad $718 million as of December 31, 2007, ml&udmn dditions to the all $626 million, K78 million,
and $1.0 billion. and deductions ko the allowance were$315 million, $731 million, and $793 million in 2017, 2008, and 2019.
Saftware Developiment Costs
ngmﬁwmwmuhwdmpntmbbemﬂ.w mmdmumn-lmmlen-laumﬁml-dnul“m Saofteare
dev for the years All other costs, those related ign or are
imcurred.
Financimg (Obligations
\I-'tmv:nldmand' bilities for est d i mmhmlﬁwmewwhwm:m“uhmm;mh
period. If we inue to control the building afier the period, the & i ified as a fi shligation instead of a lease.
The building is depreciated aver the shoner of its useful life or the term of the obligation.
If we do not control the building after the construction period ends, the assets and lisbilities for O COSES are i and we classify the lease

a5 cither operating or finance.

Croomdwrild

We evaluate goodwill for impasrment annually or more frequently when an event occurs or circumstances change that indicate the carrying value may not be
recoverable. In testing goodwill for impairment, we may elect to utilize a qualitative assessment to evaluste whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of
a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If our qualitstive assessment indicates that goodwill impairment is more likely than not, we perform a rwo-step
impairment test. We test goodwill for impairment under the two-step impairment test by first comparing the book value of net assets to the fair value of the
reporting units, KurufvﬂuwmdmhebnmmemhuluewanlumueﬁmmMnnlhunmvhhhﬂamwumﬂnlmm:
second step is performed 10 compute the amount of | i between the esti d fair value of goodwill and the camrying value. We estimate
hﬁxvﬂmu{hmmmmﬁmﬂdﬂﬂm anofhmmhﬂawnmhmdmmbu&mco[mmmmm

based pri ly om exp BOEY mMﬁwMaﬂgmﬂwMu

We completed the required annual testing of goodwill for impai for all reporting units as of April 12019, and determined that goodwill isnot impaired
n&hkrﬂwatw P "n:a ., d ‘the-rlmukvllue t‘hﬂttmnumulhumncdlﬁwupdmommulmm(u Sue
- dwvill Acquired Intangible Assets.”

her Assets
h:hw-'ﬂdunm"onmmmhhmnbwm imarily related to i muvmmﬂmmdm\immm

video and music content, net of mul.w\;' g kraMmm‘.wmeqdly:. wied for longer
than one year, the majority of which are attri le 1o i of bank g and debt related 1w our i hanal i lease

made prior to lease commencement; and equity warrant assets.

Accrued Expenses amnd Other

Included in Awwdw“uhﬂwwmﬁdmhhmﬁemmlwmmbrmhwdwkﬂﬁndmmmmohhgm
payroll snd relsted ung gift cards, ities, current debe, ired dgital media content, and other operating expenses.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2019, our abilities for payroll related expenses wereS 3 4 billion and $4_3 billion and owr liabilities for unredeemed gift cands

were $2.8 billion and $3.3 billion. We reduce the liability for a gift card when redeemed by & customer. The portion of gift cands that we do not expect 1o be
is recognized based on customer usage patterms.

Unearned Revensue
Uncamed revenue is when are ived or due in advance of . mlu!\in: igats o s i over the service period.
ily relates 1o T AWS services and Amazon Prime Our total mum:asal’ 31, 2018 was
S‘.lvhllmnfwhtthJbulmnwasmnmdummz&lmgmeyatendﬂll}amﬂ:ujl 2019 and our total revenue as of [ ber 31, 2019

was $10.2 billion. Included in “Other long-term labilities™ on our consolidated balance sheets wast | 4 billion and $2.0 billion of uncarned revenue as of
December 31, 2018 and 2019,

dditionally, we have perf bligati primarily related 10 AWS, atexd with v for future services that have
not et been recognized i our financial statcments. me«wulmm::m“wr_mwmwmmwmsma
billion as of Dy ber 31, 2019, The ighted average ining life of our | 3.3 years. b the amount and timing of revenue
cocoaition is lungoly deiven by Cusiomsr wings, which cam schend loyond the sciging costraoned e,
Anher Long-Term Liabilities
ded in “Other long: i i " on our d balance sheets are lishilines primarily related 1o deferred tax habilities, financing obligations.
asset reth ! i Ex i bes, and digital vid d music content.

Forcigm Currency
Wthwnmﬂmﬂh&:ﬁdmhwhmﬁ“mwumuswdlmmdhdnﬂﬁmdlmﬁymﬂﬂﬁmﬁmmm
inated in local functional The f v of our subss _mﬂhwm.mmmuwlyhmuumt

- Asscts and liabilities of these idiaries are |mIJ&DDI.I-lII iod-end foreign rafes, and are
al average rales prevailing troughout the period. Ti dj 'n"‘ other i u:mn:ﬂmul. a separate
component of stockbolders” mq,ﬁmh'ﬁwmﬂqeﬁeﬂmcﬂ,mﬂ ival and b :-aﬁh.“nn“ of cash
flows. Transaction gains and losses i d im a currency other than the fi » of the entity involved are
included in “Other income (expense), net™ on our af In in with the sentlement and remcasusement of intercompany

balances, we reconded gains (losses) of $202 million, $(186) million, and $95 million in 2017, 2018, and 2019

ting Pr Recently Adopred
In May mu the Financial Annm-(.-g Sundards Board (“FASB™) mnd an Accounting Standards Update (“ASU™) amending revenue recognition

! amd more detailed di ble users of fi s ‘memmmmm;m“mmormmaﬂ
euhﬂowianmlkommmm“mm We adopted this ASL on January 1. 2018 for all revenue with our using the
hand i d retsined by app $650 million. The adj imarily relstes to the i d portion of our gift
cards, which are now ized over the usage period mther than waiting witil gift cands expire or when the 1i of =
n-:nu-_Wz:h-iprllh:_qmmﬂ&mﬂmulhmhmm&uhnwhdmmwxu—ﬂﬂxuluglgpﬂ'h'-u::nH:pﬂnnlnd
recognized ratably over the membership period as service sales. P wene with multiple deliverables and

were allocated among product sales and service sales. Other changes relate mmlymdrmnol‘m. (‘eﬂm advertising services are now classified
a8 revenue rather than a reduction in cost of sakes. and sales of apps. in-app content. and centain digital media content are presented on a net basis. Prior year
amounts have not been adjusted and continue to be reported inmwiﬁmlﬁhﬂrﬁm:‘pﬂb}-

T iempract of applying ihis ASU for ihe year coded A1, 2018 pri resulied in in product sales and an incnsee in service sales
driven by the of Prime bership fees of ap i SS!lbllmMwﬂﬂnlwnMMmmMSBDhﬂlmfuhmM
December 31, 318 due to the reclassifi of centain ising services

Figure 3.31 Disclosures in Notes to Accounts
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Analyst Commentary:

e Notes to accounts enlists all the Items from Income Statement, Balance Sheet &
additional items like: Accounting Pronouncements recently adopted, Foreign currency &
Digital video & Musical content.

e The methods of ascertaining fair value of Goodwill, Assets & other financial statements

has been clearly shown & any changes arising while, adapting of new standards have
been clearly shown.

e Disclosure of Acquisitions, Goodwill & Acquired Intangible assets adds more
authenticity to the information given.

Note 5 — ACQUISITIONS, GOODWILL, AND ACQUIRED INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2007 Acquisition Activity
On May 12, 2017, we acquired Souq Group Lid., an e-commerce company, for spproximately$583 million, net of cash acquired, and on August 28, 2017,
we acquired Whole Foods Market, a grocery store chain, for approximately §13.2 billion, net of cash acquired. Both acquisitions are intended to expand our retail

presence. During 2017, we also acquired certain other companies for an aggregate purchase price of$204 million, The primary reason for our other2017
acquisitions was to acquire technologies and know-how to enable Amazon to serve customers more effectively.

2018 Acquisition Activity
On April 12, 2018, we acquired Ring Inc. (“Ring”) for cash consideration of approximately$839 million, net of cash acquired, and on September 11, 2018,
we acquired PillPack, Inc. ("PillPack”) for cash consideration of approximately $753 million, net of cash acquired, to expand our product and service offerings.

Dwring 2018, we also acquired certain other companies for an aggregate purchase price of $57 million. The primary reason for our other 2018 acquisitions was to
acquire technologies and know-how to enable Amazon to serve customers more effectively.

2009 Acquisition Activity
Dunng 2019, we acquired certain companies for an aggregate purchase price of$315 million. The primary reason for these acquisitions, none of which were
individually material to our consolidated financial statements, was to acquire technologics and know-how to enable Amazon to serve customers more effectively.
Acquisition-related costs were expensed as incurred and were not significant.

Pro forma results of operations have not been presented because the effects of 2019 acquisitions, mdividually and i the aggregate, were not matenial to our
consolidated results of operations.

Figure 3.32 Disclosures of Acquisition Activity by Amazon

e Disclosure of Commitments, owed by company is very important aspect, successfully
disclosed by amazon.

Commitments

We have entered into non-cancellable operating and finance leases and financing obligations for equipment and office, fulfillment, sortation, delivery, data
center, physical store, and renewable energy facilities

The following summarizes our principal contractual commitments, excluding open orders for purchases that support normal operations and are penerally
cancellable, as of December 31, 2019 (in millions):

Vear Ended December 31,
pi k] mu i mn i) Thereafler Total

Debt principal and imterest $ 2200 § 2009 § 2603 § 2273 0§ 4084 § 26019 § 39,19
Operating lease liabilities 357 3630 1% 2900 2605 15,845 31,963
Finance lease liabilities, including interest G878 7,655 4,060 1332 989 4961 A5
Financing obligations, including interest 142 146 148 150 152 2452 3190
Unconditional purchase obligations (1) 4,593 3641 3203 3,103 3,000 2358 19,988
Other commitments (2)(3) 3837 2214 1,770 1439 1,389 12,186 2895

Total commitments $ 24409 $19355 S 15100 $11,197 $12219 § 63821 § 146,101

(1) Includes unconditional purchase obligations related to certain products offered in our Whole Foods Market stores and long-term agreements to acquire and
license digital medin content that are not reflected on the consolidated balance shects. For those digital media content agreements with variable tems, we do
not cstimate the total obligation beyond any minimum quantitics and/or pricing as of the reporting date. Purchase obligations associated with renewal
provisons solely at the option of the content pravider are included to the extent such commitments are fixed or a minimum amount is specified.

(2) Includes the cstimated timing and amounts of payments for rent and tenant imp associated with build-to-suit lease gements and lcase

r prior to the lease date and digital media content liabilitics assoctated with long-term digital media content asscts with initial
fterms greater than one year.

(3) Excludes approximately $3.9 billion of scerued tax contingencies for which we cannot make a reasonably relinble estimate of the amount and period of
payment, if amy.

Figure 3.33 Disclosures of Commitments by Amazon
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Chapter-4

RESULTS

Verdict on antitative Aspects:

The Analyst recommends a “BUY” Rating on the stock after ‘Forecasting the company’s
financial performance’ for the Next 10 years.
The Analyst estimates: the ‘Stocks Intrinsic value’ to be $2,879.
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Figure 4.1 Dashboard Depicting Recommendation & Target Price

*All the Snapshots in Quantitative Analysis section have been taken from the Elaborated
Financial Valuation Model constructed/developed by the analyst from Scratch*

53




Verdict on Qualitative Aspects:

The following factors were considered while preparing Qualitative Analysis of Amazon:

Companies Transparency regarding factors like: Risk Disclosure.

Transparency in disclosure of Ownership, Executives Compensation & Corporate
Governance.

Disclosure of Operational Segments Performance.

Disclosure in Management Dimqsion & Analysis.

Transparency in Disclosure of Related Party Transactions.

Disclosures in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Amazon has shown good financial performance as well as transparency in its Financial Reports
due to, a strong & motivated Management & An experienced base of Board of Directors.

o i
7 7

‘ 7

,4
[

‘ 7

Verdict:

Company has got good transparency in Disclosing its Risk Factors Disclosure.

The Disclosures in Ownership patterns, Executives Compensation & Corporate
Governance is well defined & transparent.

Operational Segments Performance has been improving constantly due to focus from top
management.

Company has disclosed every detail in Management discussion & Analysis and forecasts
for next reasonable taking into account the past growth.

No controversy surrounds the company regarding Related Party Transactions due to
transparency in disclosure.

Notes to Consolidated financial statements accounts for every item in financial
statements as well as additional statements.

#% The Management of Amazon.com is efficient & transparent in its undertakings.
4% The Management Seems Stable to run a company like Amazon.
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Chapter-5
FINDINGS & RECOMMENDATIONS

After a Careful Study of Quantitative Analysis of Amazon’s Financial Health of last 5 years &
Predicting for Next 10 years.

Our Findings & Recommendations are:

:_.;‘

YV VYV

Amazon has a very strong financial health with an organic growth Attributable to its
various businesses which are performing extraordinarily well.

The debt is in control.

The Growth of Cash & Cash Equivalents has been extraordinary.

Our Predictions for the strong are optimistic based on its past performance.

We Issue a “BUY” Rating to the Stock & expect an upside of more than 50%+, which
means huge upside for the investor.

After a Careful Study of Qualitative Analysis of Amazon’s Managerial Health of last 2 years.

Our Findings & Recommendations are:

}
‘;‘

The company’s management undertaking has been transparent.

Management has disclosed all necessary information, which is necessary to the
shareholders of the company.

The Management has integrity in their undertaking.

The Management & Board of Directors seems to be Stable to run a company like

Amazon.
The Qualitative Analysis strengthens the results from Quantitative Analysis and,

Amazon’s Stock becomes a Strong Buy.
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Chapter-6
LIMITATIONS OF THE STUDY

There were 2 particular Valuation Methods/Metrics used to carry out valuation for Amazon Inc.:

1. Discounted Cash Flow Model

2. Comparable Valuation/Sum of the Parts Valuation Model

Out of which, only one Valuation Method i.e. Discounted Cash Flow Model is considered
relevant industrywide by experts & Researchers

The only limitation of the study is:
++ Only one Valuation Metric is adopted completely by experts which may at times may
prove to be a problem because of too much dependence on one Method/Model can prove

to be a problem in case of some companies such as: ‘Financial Services Companies’.

Hence, Different Models can be applied.
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